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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The Committee

          3  on General Welfare is called to order. Let me start

          4  by apologizing to everyone for the late start today.

          5  Deputy Commissioner, and to your colleagues, I

          6  apologize.

          7                 Let me also welcome my colleagues,

          8  Jimmy Vacca of the Bronx, and Lew Fidler of

          9  Brooklyn. And I want to thank both of them, because

         10  I know they're very concerned with this issue. Lew,

         11  in particular, has led the way on a crucial element

         12  of this issue of trying to support kids who end up

         13  in our shelter system or who need help from our

         14  shelter system, and particularly run-away youth, and

         15  I want to thank you, Lew, for your consistent

         16  involvement, and particularly during the budget

         17  negotiating process your strength in advocating for

         18  your cause.

         19                 I also want to thank the staff who

         20  helped put together this meeting, Molly Murphy and

         21  Freya Riel, of the General Welfare staff.

         22                 I'm going to speak quickly and get

         23  right to the Deputy Commissioner and her team. Let

         24  me just say we are faced with a time crunch. I'm

         25  sorry we've started late, and we're going to have to
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          2  end exactly on time at 1:00 because there is a very

          3  important hearing following us in this room. So, I'm

          4  going to ask, we obviously have a lot of questions

          5  for the ACS folks, and we have a number of witnesses

          6  after. I'm going to ask everyone who comes after to

          7  understand we'll be under real time constraints, and

          8  if do your best summarize, we would really

          9  appreciate that.

         10                 Look, it's very straightforward.

         11  We're talking about 1,200 young people, 18 and

         12  older, who leave foster care every year in this

         13  City, and according to testimony recently, one of

         14  the hearings from the ACS Commissioner, you know,

         15  you're talking about 20 percent or so of those kids

         16  have a clear path, such as reunification with their

         17  families or adoption, that gives them a support

         18  structure, but about 80 percent end up being on

         19  their own and relying on themselves. That means over

         20  900, almost 1,000 of those kids each year are trying

         21  to find a way in an extremely difficult environment,

         22  and after having gone through so much in their lives

         23  already.

         24                 Now, a year ago ACS came out with a

         25  plan and a report called "Preparing Youth For
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          2  Adulthood," and it was, I think, a very promising

          3  plan. It didn't get the attention it deserved, but

          4  it did make very clear a number of changes that were

          5  anticipated and anticipated quickly within ACS.

          6                 Our concern is we don't see

          7  substantial evidence of those changes having taken

          8  place, but that's the purpose of today's hearing, to

          9  hear directly from ACS on what has or has not

         10  happened. Meanwhile, these kids are facing this

         11  problem every single day when we're not making these

         12  changes.

         13                 And I want to emphasize, this is not

         14  just what ACS should do. It's not just a question of

         15  the right thing to do, it's a question of the law.

         16  The State law governing kids in foster care makes

         17  abundantly clear that it is ACS's responsibility for

         18  helping these kids to have the skills necessary to

         19  live on their own and making sure they have a plan

         20  to do so and making sure they do not end up in

         21  shelter. And that clearly is not the case for many

         22  of these young people. And we have to be clear about

         23  what it means to not follow the dictates of State

         24  law. It's one thing to say that there are other

         25  factors, such as our Family Court system that are
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          2  not helping to make this matter better. We've talked

          3  a lot here about the problems of our Family Court

          4  system, and, yes, that is a contributing factor and

          5  that needs to change.

          6                 But first and foremost, the State

          7  makes very clear ACS's fundamental responsibility,

          8  and we are concerned it is not being fulfilled for a

          9  number of these young people.

         10                 I want to make clear that these are

         11  kids who at the age of 18, 19, 20, 21, end up

         12  entirely in some cases alone and without a support

         13  structure. You know, if you look at the national

         14  average, all young people, all backgrounds, what

         15  happens to them after the age of 18? There was a

         16  study recently by the Children's Advocacy Institute

         17  that estimates the average young person gets about

         18  $45,000 of support after they leave their family

         19  after the age of 18 over the years immediately

         20  following their departure from their family. Well,

         21  we're talking about young people who, in many cases,

         22  not only don't have a family structure, but don't

         23  have any other kind of support structure to turn to.

         24                 And just, finally, we're talking

         25  about a range of needs. It's not just the obvious,
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          2  where do they live next? It's also what kind of job

          3  or educational opportunity? Where do they get health

          4  insurance? The vast majority of these kids have no

          5  health insurance so they're vulnerable to any kind

          6  of health crisis immediately. All of these

          7  challenges combine to create an extremely

          8  treacherous path, and we can imagine that that leads

          9  some of these kids to the wrong choices, and a

         10  substantial number of them, unfortunately, end up

         11  involved in the criminal justice system.

         12                 It is not easy to make it in New

         13  York, particularly what is happening with the cost

         14  of living and the cost of housing here, and all the

         15  more reason why we need to take the time, the years

         16  that these kids still are in the foster care system,

         17  to make sure that we are preparing them in every way

         18  possible.

         19                 So, we want to hear today from ACS,

         20  what are they doing? What are they doing with the

         21  amount of staff they're applying to the problem, the

         22  resources they're applying? What are their policies?

         23  What are their guarantees? What are they doing to

         24  create accountability? What system are they using

         25  for keeping track of these young people? Literally,
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          2  at any given point do we know what's happening with

          3  each young person as they prepare to age out and

          4  after they age out, and how is ACS guaranteeing that

          5  it is fulfilling its responsibilities.

          6                 So, these are the questions today,

          7  and with that, I will turn to the Deputy

          8  Commissioner Jeanette Ruiz, and we welcome your

          9  testimony.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair. So, good morning, Chair DeBlasio, and

         12  members of the General Welfare Committee. I am

         13  Jeanette Ruiz, Deputy Commissioner for Family

         14  Permanency Services at the Administration for

         15  Children's Services. I am joined today by Ronald

         16  Richter, Deputy Commissioner for Family Court Legal

         17  Services, and Dodd Terry, Assistant Commissioner for

         18  the Office of Youth Development, the office within

         19  the Division of Family Permanency Services charged

         20  with implementing the initiative, which is the

         21  subject of today's hearing.

         22                 Let me begin, first of all, by

         23  thanking you for the opportunity to brief you on

         24  Preparing You For Adulthood, our comprehensive

         25  strategy to address the needs of foster children,
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          2  and of the needs of youth in foster care, and to

          3  ensure that transition, their transition with the

          4  skills and connections they need to become

          5  successful adults.

          6                 Recognizing the special challenges

          7  that our young people face as they navigate the

          8  difficult transition from adolescence to adulthood,

          9  Children's Services has established a plan with six

         10  core goals. They are:

         11                 - that youth will have permanent

         12  connections with caring adults;

         13                 - That they will reside in stable

         14  living situations;

         15                 - that youth will be afforded

         16  opportunities to advance their education, personal

         17  development;

         18                 - that they will be encouraged to

         19  take increasing responsibility for their work and

         20  life decisions;

         21                 - that young people's individual

         22  needs will be met; and

         23                 - six, that young people will have

         24  ongoing support after they age out of foster care.

         25                 The importance of adopting a new
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          2  approach to working with youth in foster care is

          3  clear. Nationally, outcomes for youth aging out of

          4  foster care are discouraging and our experience in

          5  New York City reflects these national trends and

          6  compels us to work to find new solutions that will

          7  provide young people with the help they need. Our

          8  sense of urgency is heightened by the fact that,

          9  while New York City's foster care census has

         10  declined overall in recent years, adolescents have

         11  come to comprise an even larger proportion of

         12  children in care. Today, 42 percent of children in

         13  foster care are over the age of 12. This is

         14  approximately 7,000 children. And 1,500 or so of

         15  them have a goal of independent living.

         16                 In order to better serve our youth,

         17  Children's Services moved last year, as you know, to

         18  reorient and restructure our Office of Youth

         19  Development, OYD, by focusing its work around the

         20  mission of youth development, instead of independent

         21  living.

         22                 In the past year, Children's Services

         23  has rebuilt the infrastructure of this office,

         24  trained staff throughout the child welfare system,

         25  and launched a number of ground-breaking
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          2  initiatives.

          3                 As we move deeper into

          4  implementation, we will continue to integrate this

          5  work into everything we do, especially our emphasis

          6  on placing youth with families that can serve as a

          7  permanent resource to them.

          8                 To gain a better understanding of the

          9  issues facing youth in foster care in New York City,

         10  OYD first performed a series of case reviews of

         11  youth and their placement experiences in five foster

         12  care provider agencies. Through these reviews, OYD

         13  identified a number of critical issues: Number 1,

         14  access to housing; 2, insufficient planning with

         15  their birth families; and 3, access and funding for

         16  college and vocational opportunities.

         17                 As part of this first round of

         18  reviews, OYD has developed a tracking system to

         19  support the implementation of ongoing reviews and to

         20  facilitate the collection of information gathered

         21  through these reviews and site visits. The system

         22  now enables OYD to track its reviews, including case

         23  specific information, agency specific information,

         24  and the tracking of system-wide trends. We intend to

         25  use this information to target our PYA technical
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          2  assistance and oversight as Improved Outcomes for

          3  Children begins its first phase.

          4                 As an integral part of Preparing

          5  Youth for Adulthood, OYD held trainings with several

          6  key areas within Children's Services, including case

          7  management, adoption, and child protection.

          8  Additionally, OYD hosted borough-based orientations

          9  for providers in each of the five boroughs. OYD has

         10  also trained many of the legal services providers

         11  who represent young people in Family Court, and ACS

         12  attorneys who represent Children Services.

         13                 Finally, OYD held a citywide kick-off

         14  conference which brought together stakeholders

         15  throughout the child welfare community to introduce

         16  them to the plan.

         17                 OYD continues to develop its ongoing

         18  training and technical assistance capacity and has

         19  organized work around the following activities:

         20                 - participating in team

         21  decision-making conferences affecting young people.

         22                 - conducting new rounds of case

         23  reviews.

         24                 - meeting with agency training

         25  coordinators.
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          2                 - meeting regularly with law

          3  guardians to problem solve systemic issues.

          4                 - intervening and providing coaching

          5  on individual cases; and

          6                 - hiring nine additional staff

          7  members with youth development expertise.

          8                 In the first year of implementation,

          9  Children's Services has focused on five key areas:

         10                 - making better employment

         11  connections for youth.

         12                 - supporting the financial

         13  independence of our young people.

         14                 - connecting youth to families.

         15                 - providing access to housing and

         16  engaging youth in decision-making about their lives.

         17                 Now we will brief you on our progress

         18  in each of these areas.

         19                 Employment. OYD has made significant

         20  progress in increasing youth's access to employment

         21  information and programs over the past year.

         22                 For example, Children's Services

         23  hosted its first ever employment expo for agency

         24  providers.

         25                 We also implement a monthly forum for
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          2  foster care agencies to meet with HRA employment

          3  vendors who are able to provide job opportunities to

          4  our young people.

          5                 Children's services has hosted

          6  ongoing Network to Success events that focus on

          7  different industries and enable youth to meet with

          8  professionals from those industries. Our nast

          9  network event, for example, focused on fashion

         10  industry and was attended by over 200 youth.

         11                 We have also launched Passport To

         12  Success, a collaboration of ACS, The Door, and

         13  Arbor, through which we provide employment

         14  internships and job placement services to young

         15  people in care.

         16                 Further, Children's Services has

         17  partnered with FEGS and The Door, who are launching

         18  The Academy with funding from the Hecksher

         19  Foundation to work with foster care youth ages 16 to

         20  21 and provide them with a full range of educational

         21  and social supports, as well as workforce

         22  development.

         23                 Children's Services has so far this

         24  year issued 591 educational and training vouchers.

         25                 Finally, Children's Services has
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          2  launched an effort to increase youth participation

          3  in DYCD's Summer Youth Employment Program this year.

          4                 We will continue to build on these

          5  efforts and strengthen these critically important

          6  partnerships in the coming year and to increase our

          7  ability to provide young people with greater access

          8  to employment experiences with a particular focus on

          9  identifying the programmatic supports they need to

         10  successfully participate in work.

         11                 Youth Financial Empowerment

         12  Initiative.

         13                 Children's Services has launched a

         14  broad-scale, cutting edge Youth Financial

         15  Empowerment Initiative with the support of the

         16  Mayor's Center for Economic Opportunity, New Yorkers

         17  for Children and the United Way. Through this

         18  initiative, we have developed a comprehensive

         19  strategy to provide youth in care with essential

         20  financial literacy skills and resources to support

         21  building assets.

         22                 At its core, this effort will provide

         23  intensive financial literacy training to young

         24  people to acquaint them with basic financial

         25  management concepts, such as budgeting, needs versus
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          2  wants, credit and the role of financial

          3  institutions.

          4                 In addition to the financial literacy

          5  training, this initiative will provide youth in care

          6  with access to individual development accounts,

          7  IDAs, which are matched savings accounts that would

          8  allow our youth to accelerate their savings, with

          9  funding from the public and private sector, to

         10  support the acquisition of major asset. Over the

         11  past ten years, this tool has been successfully used

         12  with adults to enable home ownership, small business

         13  development and post secondary educational

         14  attainment.

         15                 Children's Services is launching a

         16  five-year pilot this fall to engage 450 youth in

         17  developing positive financial management behaviors

         18  and to secure asset goals of housing, education and

         19  micro-enterprise.

         20                 This will provide the inclusion of an

         21  IDA account, which will match a youth's savings of

         22  up to $1,000 with up to $2,000 from both private and

         23  public funds. Children's Services has engaged

         24  Citibank as its financial partner, for this pilot.

         25  Citibank will provide both the IDA product, which is
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          2  a custodial savings account, and a transactional

          3  debt account for all young people participating in

          4  the pilot.

          5                 In addition to the commitments we

          6  have received to date, Children's Services has

          7  submitted a Federal grant application to the U.S.

          8  Department of Health And Human Services' Assets for

          9  Independence Program, which provides both match pool

         10  and administration support to IDA programs

         11  nationwide. We anticipate a decision from HHS next

         12  month.

         13                 Young people, ages 16 through 21, who

         14  are currently in foster care will be targeted for

         15  participation. We will conduct a Citywide outreach

         16  effort to recruit youth who meet minimum program

         17  requirements. And, in addition to the large-scale

         18  outreach effort, youth will be recruited from two

         19  existing workforce development initiatives, Passport

         20  to Success and The Academy, that work with youth in

         21  foster care.

         22                 Youth participating in the pilot will

         23  be expected to take part in up to 20 hours of

         24  financial literacy training. The training will focus

         25  on their personal perspective on money, their
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          2  attitudes, beliefs and values, and how that affects

          3  behavior; goal setting and budgeting; financial

          4  management decision-making practices; role and

          5  effective use of credit; role and effective use of

          6  financial institutions; paths to building wealth;

          7  and consumerism - how to be an effective consumer.

          8                 After successful completion of this

          9  first training, participants will open their IDA and

         10  transactional debit account and begin saving towards

         11  their asset purchase.

         12                 Concurrently, these young people will

         13  be involved in a host of other activities, such as

         14  mentoring, field trips, leadership development to

         15  promote and reinforce the competencies instilled by

         16  the initial training.

         17                 In addition, these youth will be

         18  offered an elective financial education class, which

         19  will enable them to explore other financial

         20  management topics, such as investments, retirement,

         21  and role of other financial institutions.

         22                 Enhanced Foster Parent Support.

         23  Another critical component of PYA is the Enhanced

         24  Foster Parent Support Initiative, an $11.5 million

         25  investment. The goal is very important to measure --
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          2  this is an important measure, as is used to

          3  distribute up-front funds to foster care providers

          4  to investment in recruitment training and support

          5  for foster parents so that children in care can

          6  remain in safe, stable, family-based settings. In a

          7  typical year, approximately 750 children step up in

          8  their level of care from a family setting to a

          9  residential placement. Through these enhanced

         10  services and investment dollars, we expect to better

         11  respond to foster parent needs, as well as the needs

         12  of teens at risk of stepping up, and stabilize these

         13  placements so that children can remain in a family

         14  setting when appropriate. Through these funds,

         15  foster care providers can do targeted recruitment to

         16  attract foster parents, specifically for teens, hire

         17  foster parent advocates, and create 24-hour support

         18  lines for foster parents to help respond to their

         19  concerns, offer crisis intervention, or provide

         20  teens with mental health services.

         21                 It is important to note that

         22  residential care remains a key component of our

         23  continuum of services and an important intervention

         24  in appropriate cases based on the individual needs

         25  of a particular child.
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          2                 Another crucial component of

          3  attracting and retaining foster parents for youth is

          4  our Community Partnership Initiative. As this

          5  Committee is aware, Children's Services has launched

          6  this initiative in 11 high-need communities. One of

          7  our four measurable goals for this initiative is

          8  foster care recruitment and support. The grants

          9  associated with the Community Partnership Initiative

         10  have gone to community-based agencies to engage them

         11  in the work of child welfare and deepen our

         12  connections in neighborhoods.

         13                 Housing. Children's Services has also

         14  launched a number of efforts to strengthen youth

         15  access to housing. First, we now have access to the

         16  NYCHA database, which enables us to track the

         17  progress of applications for housing that we submit

         18  on behalf of youth leaving care. Children's Services

         19  has also secured priority Section 8 and NYCHA

         20  housing for our youth. Further, our Housing Support

         21  and Services Unit has developed a series of one-page

         22  desk guides that clearly describe the application

         23  process and procedure for both Section 8 housing,

         24  our internal Housing Subsidy Program and NYCHA

         25  public housing. Each of these desk guides have been
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          2  broadly distributed to our provider agencies, to law

          3  guardians and directly to our youth. These guides

          4  also describe the program and eligibility guidelines

          5  and offer a contact number for accessing help.

          6                 Engaging Youth in Decision-Making. As

          7  this Committee is aware, Youth Services recently

          8  released its plan, Improving Outcomes for Children,

          9  this spring. At the core of this effort is a new

         10  practice model and financing system focused on

         11  reducing movements and lengths of stay for children

         12  in foster care.

         13                 Moving forward, there will be a team

         14  decision-making conference every time there is a

         15  recommendation to move a child, as well as regular

         16  planning meetings about permanency at which

         17  Children's Services will be present.

         18                 Youth ten or older will be encouraged

         19  to participate in these conferences. To facilitate

         20  this, provider agencies will schedule conferences

         21  during hours that support their attendance and

         22  actively engage youth in planning for their future.

         23                 In addition, Children's Services, in

         24  partnership with the New York City Family Court, has

         25  launched "teen days," in the Family Courts in
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          2  Manhattan and in the Bronx and will soon be

          3  launching this model in Queens.

          4                 During "teen days," specific

          5  afternoon calendars are dedicated exclusively to

          6  permanency hearings for youth. The goal of these

          7  hearings is to identify resources and other help

          8  that our young people may need. OYD staff is present

          9  in Court during all "teen days" to assist in

         10  identifying resources and offering services.

         11                 In conclusion, I hope my testimony

         12  today helps to illustrate Children's Services'

         13  commitment and work during the past year towards

         14  providing our young people in foster care with

         15  opportunities and skills they need to become

         16  successful adults.

         17                 There is still much work that needs

         18  to be done, and we are looking forward to building

         19  on our efforts over the past year. We thank you for

         20  inviting us to discuss these very important items

         21  with you this morning. My colleagues and I welcome

         22  any questions you may have at this time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         24  much, Deputy Commissioner. I want to also welcome

         25  Council Member Jessica Lappin to the General Welfare
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          2  Committee.

          3                 Commissioner, I don't doubt your

          4  sincerity and that you are trying to make changes to

          5  help these young people, but let me start with some

          6  very basic questions. First of all, as I understand

          7  it, Title 18 of the State Department of Social

          8  Services regulations, and I am told it is Section

          9  430.12, makes clear that ACS has a legal obligation

         10  to provide these young people about to age out of

         11  foster care with skills for independent living and

         12  to ensure that these young people do not age out

         13  into shelter.

         14                 Our you meeting your legal

         15  responsibilities at this moment?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We are

         17  certainly doing everything within our ability to

         18  reach those objectives and to provide those services

         19  to all of our youth. I think there has been a shift,

         20  however, as you probably have noticed in practice,

         21  moving away from independent living and really

         22  looking at youth development as a practice model,

         23  and really ensuring that youth voices are heard in

         24  their own planning, that youth are really involved

         25  in decision-making, taking responsibility, that we
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          2  ensure that all youth have permanent connections.

          3  So, I think this is really a core principle of youth

          4  development as we move forward, and that will really

          5  ensure that all youth leaving foster care will be

          6  better equipped to transition into adulthood

          7  successfully, and that they will have the tools

          8  necessary to do so.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, again,

         10  your answer sounds like a good faith answer that

         11  you're trying to do the right thing, and I

         12  appreciate that, but I don't think you've answered

         13  the question. The question is, right now are you

         14  living up to the State regulations? It's ACS's

         15  responsibility to prepare these young people and

         16  ensure they do not go into shelter, can you tell me

         17  definitively that's what's happening right now?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: No, I

         19  can't. And I think in my testimony it was very clear

         20  that we're indicating that while we've done a lot of

         21  practice innovations this past year that we're

         22  building on, that, in fact, we still have a lot of

         23  work to do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         25                 Now, keying in on the shelter piece
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          2  in particular, can you tell me how many young people

          3  end up in the shelter system? Either immediately

          4  upon leaving foster care, or shortly thereafter?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: No. We

          6  don't have that data.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You don't have

          8  that data at all?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me try and

         11  wrap my mind around that. I mean, you can't say at

         12  any given point -- I mean, do you have a connection

         13  with the Department of Homeless Services that allows

         14  you to say this young person came in and they just

         15  left your system?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Good

         17  morning, Councilman. Ron Richter, Family Court,

         18  Legal Services. As you know, over the past year we

         19  have focused on strengthening and expanding our data

         20  sharing on child protective and preventive cases,

         21  including all open Child Protective Services' cases

         22  and cases with histories within the past ten years.

         23  These efforts have included increasing the frequency

         24  of these reports.

         25                 We are also working with other City
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          2  agencies to better identify the exact data that you,

          3  I think are asking about, namely working with DHS in

          4  order to be able to identify the young people I

          5  think that you're asking about.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

          7  that. But wouldn't you say, and I know you are a

          8  lawyer, wouldn't you say that if the State

          9  regulations require you to ensure that young people

         10  do not age out into shelter, that any instance you

         11  found of that you would have to act on immediately?

         12  In other words, if you knew a young person was going

         13  straight into shelter, you would have to take steps

         14  to stop that from happening?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. But

         17  you're saying you don't know the extent to which

         18  it's happening right now?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I can

         20  tell you that we are working closely with our 30

         21  some provider agencies to ensure that those young

         22  people are getting focused attention so that they

         23  don't age out into the shelter system, so that all

         24  the efforts that Deputy Commissioner Ruiz described

         25  are our effort to ensure that we're starting as
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          2  early as possible to ensure that young people when

          3  they turn 21 don't age out into shelters.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I'm still

          5  confused because you came out with this report,

          6  Preparing Youth For Adulthood, about a year ago, and

          7  obviously, this was one of the issues discussed in

          8  the report. And I give you credit, the report sets

          9  some very clear goals, but I am kind of amazed that

         10  after a year we don't have the instant ability to

         11  say what's happening with a young person if they're

         12  ending up in shelter and therefore that that's an

         13  unacceptable situation we have to act on. So, you've

         14  answered the question, you don't have the ability to

         15  do that right now; how quickly will you have the

         16  ability to do that?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Let me

         18  interject here. Improving Outcomes for Children,

         19  we're going to have quarterly family teen

         20  conferences on all children in foster care. That

         21  will enable us to really strengthen practices to

         22  ensure that not only the goals of PYA are fully met

         23  and achieved on a systemic basis, but that we

         24  improve practice considerably so that we will know

         25  way in advance of a child or a young person's, near
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          2  approaching 21 or aging out, we will know well in

          3  advance what the plan is. We will ensure that there

          4  is a concrete plan. We will really take all measures

          5  and all steps necessary to ensure that practice

          6  changes and we make a paradigm shift we need to make

          7  to ensure that all youth are connected to adults,

          8  and that this is really, really the infrastructure

          9  and support that all of our children need moving

         10  forward to succeed as they move out of foster care.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner, I

         12  just ask you really clearly, when will you be able

         13  to have that information on every young person?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Well, we

         15  are implementing IOC now in the next month. We are

         16  developing a very comprehensive score card, which is

         17  really building off our prior evaluation system. And

         18  the beauty of the score card also is that we will

         19  have in-time information that will also enable us to

         20  really measure performance, not at the end of the

         21  year but on an ongoing basis, and with that

         22  information, really develop our technical assistance

         23  areas, including OYD and Youth Development to

         24  intervene as appropriate to help those performers

         25  who aren't meeting the standards and the goals that
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          2  we set forth.

          3                 We're also working very

          4  collaboratively with many of our City agencies to

          5  share databases. I made reference to the NYCHA

          6  database, the DHS database, we have done some work

          7  with respect to families, and we now need to move

          8  that work to do data match with respect to

          9  individual people.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But you don't

         11  have a time line? You don't have a deadline by which

         12  you need to do this?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So, I

         14  want to add that the Department of Homeless Services

         15  and ACS now have a working group that meets

         16  regularly. It is chaired by Deputy Commissioner

         17  Michael Bosnick, at ACS, and Maryanne Stretsman from

         18  DHS. The purpose of this working group and its focus

         19  is exactly what you are asking about, namely

         20  building this information and making it a priority

         21  within our CPS data.

         22                 So, we have been working jointly with

         23  DHS for the past year, and anticipate that we should

         24  have what you're requesting in the near future.

         25                 I can't give you a specific date, but
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          2  I know we can follow-up with the Council, and

          3  provide you some sort of time line that's more

          4  precise than what we're able to provide here right

          5  now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Respectfully, I

          7  don't find that particularly acceptable. We've

          8  talked about this issue for a long time. You knew

          9  this hearing was coming. I can't believe that you

         10  can come in and say we don't have the ability to

         11  track each young person, and we don't even have a

         12  time line for when we will be able to track each

         13  young person.

         14                 The Mayor yesterday celebrated the 50

         15  millionth call to the 3-1-1 system, which has only

         16  been up and running for a few years. Obviously,

         17  using technology and keeping track of information is

         18  something that people know how to do in this City. I

         19  fear that when we're talking about, you know, 1,000

         20  young people with profound problems and facing very

         21  uncertain futures, somehow they're not getting the

         22  attention they deserve, and they're not using the

         23  same technology and not putting the same emphasis.

         24  I'm not saying you don't care, I'm just amazed that

         25  you have a State regulation requiring you to take
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          2  action, and we can't even say when we're going to

          3  know where each kid is. I mean, that, to me, is

          4  unbelievable. And I'm just going to say it one more

          5  time a different way and make sure I'm right.

          6                 If I said today here is the name of a

          7  young person about to age out of foster care, you

          8  know, where are they going, you don't have that

          9  information, right?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: No, I

         11  actually don't think that is an accurate statement.

         12  Were you to give us the name of a young person, we

         13  certainly would be able to find out what the current

         14  plan for that young person is, and what efforts are

         15  in place to ensure that that young person doesn't

         16  transition into the shelter system. So, I certainly

         17  don't want to suggest that we don't know for each

         18  child in our system what their current plan is,

         19  because we do, and we have ready access to that in

         20  our State Connections System.

         21                 So, if any of us suggested that we

         22  don't, we do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  But you don't

         24  know if they end up in shelter? So, the point is,

         25  I'm glad if you at least have some sense of what

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  track they're supposed to be on, but if you can't

          3  tell me whether that kid ended up in shelter or what

          4  happened to that kid immediately after, it's not a

          5  system that's usable.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So, that

          7  is the focus of the working group that we have with

          8  DHS, and I want to include that your sense of

          9  urgency is shared by us, and that this strategic

         10  plan preparing you for adulthood is an agency

         11  priority and we are certainly working with DHS to

         12  ensure that what you're asking for is forthcoming.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just going

         14  to ask a couple more questions. I know Council

         15  Member Fidler and some of my other colleagues

         16  certainly have questions, so I'll just finish up

         17  quickly here.

         18                 In the report, Preparing Youth For

         19  Adulthood, and, again, I emphasize it's been a whole

         20  year since this report came out, and we would have

         21  every reason to expect specific action in the last

         22  year, one of the outcomes that you, yourself, set,

         23  it's on page six of the report, is that the

         24  percentage of teen discharges to adoption and

         25  reunification will increase from 22 percent to 30
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          2  percent, and the percentage of teens who have a

          3  mentor will increase from six and a half percent to

          4  15 percent. Now, in both of those instances, can you

          5  tell me what the percentages are a year later?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: The rate of

          7  adoption for teens is 27 percent, and on the

          8  mentoring information, we will need to get back to

          9  you. We don't have that number readily at our

         10  fingertips, but we can provide that to you as a

         11  follow-up.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, we will

         13  follow-up with you. I don't want to take out on you

         14  all the frustrations I have had after dozens and

         15  dozens of hearings, but, again, we called this

         16  hearing awhile ago, you guys were preparing for it,

         17  this is your own report I'm quoting. I'm always

         18  amazed at how people cannot answer questions based

         19  on their own data, but the other piece in this is,

         20  you talk about trying to determine the percentage of

         21  discharge youth who use shelters within two years of

         22  leaving, so I want to be clear that we're not just

         23  talking about young people who might go directly in

         24  the shelter, which again the State law does not

         25  allow, we're talking about young people who could
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          2  slip into shelter at any point thereafter. But it

          3  doesn't sound like you have a clear number either

          4  for folks who go immediately into shelter or in any

          5  of the ensuing years end up in the shelter. That's

          6  correct, you can't give me a number for any point

          7  along the way; is that right?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Not at this

          9  point. As Deputy Commissioner Richter has indicated,

         10  we are working very diligently to set up that data

         11  matching with NYCHA, with Department of Housing,

         12  Homeless Services.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:

         14  Councilman, I would like to actually -- I've just

         15  confirmed something that I think you would want to

         16  know, which is that we do have a priority code for

         17  our youth who are aging out or on their way to

         18  transition to adulthood. A priority code with NYCHA,

         19  so that those young people do get priority with

         20  respect to NYCHA housing.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: And I

         22  included that in my testimony, as well as Section 8.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But my concern

         24  is, and I see all sorts of task forces and meetings

         25  and studies, my question is I'll ask you the obvious
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          2  then, can you tell me if roughly 1,200 kids aged out

          3  in 2006, how many of them got a NYCHA unit?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We can get

          5  that.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I think

          7  we can get you that data.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm not going

          9  to beat the dead horse any further. I find it

         10  striking that I can't get that answer right away.

         11                 I want to welcome two of our

         12  colleagues in the General Welfare Committee, Annabel

         13  Palma, and Gale Brewer. And now, again, I'd like to

         14  turn the questioning over to somebody who has spent

         15  a lot of time working on issues very much related to

         16  this, Council Member Lew Fidler.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman. And good morning, Deputy Commissioner. I'm

         19  going to apologize right at the beginning because I

         20  may raise my voice. I tend to get very, very excited

         21  about the issue of children sleeping on the streets

         22  of the City of New York. The Speaker actually

         23  referred to me lovingly last night as a "pain in the

         24  ass" on the issue, and I think I may need to come to

         25  the General Welfare Committee every now and then
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          2  because I think maybe you need to be a little bit

          3  more of a pain in the ass for me.

          4                 I'm extraordinarily concerned with

          5  the testimony I just heard and the answers that were

          6  just given. First of all, I didn't once hear in your

          7  testimony the mention of DYCD, which is the agency

          8  that primarily provides shelter beds for youth in

          9  the City of New York. Not DHS; DYCD. So, the fact

         10  that DHS does run a shelter for homeless youth,

         11  we're not talking -- we're talking about kids aging

         12  out of foster care. We're talking about kids who are

         13  alone. Not family youth homeless, certainly a

         14  significant problem, but the kids who are alone wind

         15  up in DYCD shelters, not DHS shelters. So, I'm

         16  certainly concerned at that absolute absence in your

         17  testimony of any collaboration with DYCD.

         18                 Now, we are now, with Council

         19  funding, attempting to count the number of children

         20  sleeping on our streets. And, of course, we've

         21  omitted in this, you know, the Chairman has very

         22  correctly talked about the importance of keeping

         23  kids from slipping into the shelter system, I'm

         24  concerned about kids who are slipping into the

         25  street, all right? Who don't have a shelter bed.
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          2  Because as we know in this Council all too well,

          3  there aren't enough shelter beds for runaway and

          4  homeless youth in this City, and with the $2 million

          5  that we've added in this year's budget to it, on top

          6  of the 2.67 million that we restored from the

          7  Mayor's cut for shelter beds, there will still be

          8  thousands of children sleeping on the streets of the

          9  City of New York every night, couch surfing, relying

         10  on survival sex to live, all right? As many as

         11  30,000 a year in the City of New York, by

         12  conservative estimates, and we're not even talking

         13  about shelter beds. And, you know, there are two

         14  ways of getting them off the street: One of them is,

         15  you know, getting them into proper shelter beds and

         16  transitional living programs; the other is

         17  preventing them from getting there to begin with.

         18  And as we look at the sources of where those kids

         19  are coming from, and the reason that I came to this

         20  Committee today, even though I am not a member of

         21  the Committee, is aging out of foster care. And when

         22  I hear that you're tracking, and then can't tell me

         23  where the kids have gone, forget about shelter beds,

         24  to the street, that troubles me.

         25                 So, I would ask you, you said you're
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          2  tracking, what are you tracking?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So, I

          4  can tell you that in 2007 so far of the young people

          5  transitioning to adulthood from our system, 115 are

          6  housed currently through NYCHA, 82 have been

          7  certified for Section 8 and 105 are certified and

          8  are awaiting of availability of NYCHA public

          9  housing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And how many

         11  are there in the universe, other than those, that

         12  aged out of foster care?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Right.

         14  So, I think Councilman DeBlasio was asking that

         15  question, and as you have stated, I don't have that

         16  answer right now.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: No, no. But

         18  you just also told Councilman DeBlasio that your

         19  system sends off bells and whistles for the kids

         20  that are about to age out. So, you can't tell me

         21  what the universe is?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Okay,

         23  Councilman Fidler, I actually can tell you. Last

         24  year the universe was 1,200 young people.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And so you
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          2  just identified how many in that universe? I'm

          3  sorry, I'm not a math student.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:

          5  Somewhere around 300.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What happened

          7  to the other 900?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Right,

          9  so, I think that's the question that Council Member

         10  DeBlasio was asking, and I don't have that answer

         11  right now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I would

         13  suggest to you that a good number of those 900 are

         14  sleeping on the street without a bed, and that is

         15  something that is wholly unacceptable, it is

         16  shameful in a civilized City in the Year 2007.

         17                 And, you know, to hear that you are

         18  not coordinating with the agency primarily

         19  responsible for taking care of those kids once they

         20  age out of your system, and they wind up on the

         21  street, concerns me beyond words.

         22                 Can you tell me -- I mean, you know

         23  who the Commissioner of DYCD is, I can only imagine.

         24  They have an entire Department for Runaway and

         25  Homeless Youth, are you not coordinating anything
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          2  with them?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: Good

          4  morning. We can actually indicate to you that we are

          5  working with DYCD. Susan Haskell, who is the

          6  Assistant Commissioner with Vulnerable and Runaway

          7  Youth, we're meeting with her. We've met at least

          8  three times, with Deputy Commissioner Jan Flori

          9  (phonetic) from ACS, who is in charge of Placement,

         10  Division of Child Placement, and what we've done

         11  with regard to working with DYCD, we've talked about

         12  shelter use for youth. And also what we've done is,

         13  there's some LGBTQ issues regarding runaway youth,

         14  and we have a LGBTQQ (sic) coordinator who is also

         15  attending these meetings with us. We're working on

         16  the collaboration with DYCD regarding this issue, in

         17  addition to other situations that we've worked with

         18  DYCD on. As the testimony reflected with regard to

         19  Summer Youth Employment, that's another partnership

         20  that we have with DYCD.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: And I

         22  should add, Councilman Fidler, that ACS does have

         23  staff located at Covenant House in New York City and

         24  that staff is located there specifically to work

         25  with young people to try to ensure that they are not
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          2  left homeless, and that there is some place for them

          3  to transition to from Covenant House.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And what does

          5  your staff do when someone arrives at Covenant House

          6  homeless, to make sure that they don't continue to

          7  be homeless?

          8                 I mean, honestly, with all due

          9  respect, a lot of what I've heard sounds an awful

         10  lot like fluff. What do you actually do? Joe walks

         11  into Covenant House. He's aged out of foster care,

         12  he's got no place to go, maybe the outreach worker

         13  at Covenant House convinced him to come in off the

         14  street, where he was probably selling his body to

         15  survive, what do you do to help Joe find a way into

         16  living like a human being in this City? What do you

         17  do?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So, the

         19  ACS staff worked with Covenant House so that when a

         20  young person doesn't have some place to go from

         21  Covenant House, they work with them to figure out

         22  whether they are eligible for public benefits,

         23  whether they are eligible for NYCHA, or one of other

         24  programs like Section 8, and open a case with that

         25  young person in an effort to try to access whatever
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          2  services may be available to ensure that the person

          3  doesn't end up back on the street.

          4                 Obviously, Children's Services does

          5  not want young people to be living on the streets.

          6                 I could tell you that I received a

          7  call just this morning from a Bronx Attorney who is

          8  working with the Police Department in the Bronx this

          9  morning concerning a 14-year-old that was found on

         10  the street last night. They are trying to figure out

         11  how to bring that young person into protective

         12  custody. We are committed to ensure that young

         13  people are not left sleeping on the street.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: As Chairman

         15  DeBlasio said, I have no doubt as to your sincerity

         16  and your desire to do the right thing. I don't. And

         17  I don't mean for my tone of voice to reflect, you

         18  know, any disrespect of that.

         19                 But you know, it is very, very

         20  frustrating sitting up here and looking at this

         21  problem, knowing that there are three agencies

         22  involved. You know, I know that DYCD has done

         23  everything they can with the resources they have

         24  been given, and you know, you talk about housing and

         25  whatnot, but every one of these kids has other
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          2  issues. I mean, you don't live on the street for a

          3  month before Covenant House finds you without having

          4  other issues. It's not just a matter of can I get

          5  you a job wrapping burgers at McDonalds and get you

          6  some assistance so you might be able to get into

          7  housing, all right? It's all of the other things.

          8  Have you met the social, emotional needs? Have you

          9  looked to see whether or not they've developed a

         10  drug dependency? You know, what's their emotional

         11  readiness to live independently?

         12                 You've got to do all of those things,

         13  otherwise finding them a place to flop is just a

         14  place to flop.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I agree

         16  with you. ACS, and I don't have the number before

         17  me, but ACS does also support our agencies in

         18  developing supportive independent living placements

         19  so that just as you are describing, there is a place

         20  for some of our young people who will actually be

         21  supported as they transition into adulthood, and

         22  receive the kinds of services that you are

         23  identifying very accurately, many of these, if not

         24  most of these, young people require.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm just going
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          2  to ask one or two more. I'm used to DYCD speaking,

          3  maybe I don't know ACS speak --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: So that

          5  you know, Councilman Fidler, there are currently 134

          6  young people in SILPS (phonetic) in New York City

          7  that are in Children's Services' care.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So my first

          9  question, what's SILP.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Supervised

         11  Independent Living Program, where they live in

         12  apartments and there is supervision provided to

         13  them.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Just so I

         15  understand, in your testimony you said that there

         16  are roughly 7,140 children in foster care over the

         17  age of 12, and approximately 1,570 of them have a

         18  goal of independent living. What's the goal for the

         19  other 5,500?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: They all

         21  have other permanency goals, which include adoption,

         22  return to family, or return to relative.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Or some

         25  custodial care based on their needs, like an OMRDD
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          2  facility, for example.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And from those

          4  5,500, how many of them succeed in their other

          5  goals?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: I'm not

          7  sure I understand your question, Councilman.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You know,

          9  their goal is adoption, you know, some other kind of

         10  placement. I mean, I assume if adoption doesn't

         11  work, as we all know, unfortunately some of these

         12  kids don't get adopted, even despite their goal of

         13  being, and then are they then prepared to live in

         14  the world in that, you know, in that capacity?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Well, what

         16  you're describing would be a case-by-case situation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Exactly.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Because

         19  there are cases where the goal might be adoption and

         20  there might be an adoption resources. That's why

         21  it's so critically important that our Foster Parent

         22  Support and Training Initiative, which is really so

         23  core to our services, is so critical, because in our

         24  experience we find that if you provide foster

         25  parents with the appropriate wrap-around supports,
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          2  with respite, if you do this, you can preserve

          3  placements and you can preserve adoption. And also

          4  in the adoption area there is post-adoption

          5  services, which are also critically important to our

          6  adoptive parents.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Absolutely. I

          8  mean, family reunification, adoption, you know,

          9  where that's not possible, those clearly are the

         10  best ways I can think of to keep a child from

         11  becoming homeless and living on the street, no less

         12  in a shelter. And there's no question about that.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: I was going

         14  to add, if I may, when my colleague Commissioner

         15  Richter was speaking before, and that really what's

         16  really core to the practice and to PYA and to

         17  improving outcomes for children, is really this

         18  notion that we really, really have to make every

         19  single effort we can to connect our youth to caring

         20  adults. Because as you rightfully stated, there are

         21  many issues that our youth have. It's not just a

         22  concrete bed. And the best, best solution, the best

         23  outcomes for all of our youth and for all of us is

         24  to have caring adults, to have a family support

         25  system that will really see us through those
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          2  difficult times and through those good times.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Deputy

          4  Commissioner, there is no doubt that everyone in

          5  this room agrees with the goals, the issue is how do

          6  we get there.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And knowing

          9  that, you know, the number of kids over the age of

         10  12 is 7,140, I am perplexed at your inability to

         11  track them through your system and out of your

         12  system. Each one of those 7,140 have to be treated

         13  as an individual. Because each one brings their own

         14  story, their own problems, their own special needs.

         15  And if they're not, they will be lost and then they

         16  become DYCD's problem or DHS's problem.

         17                 So, I will just ask you one last

         18  question. Does your agency participate in the

         19  Interagency Youth Council?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: Yes,

         21  they do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And this

         23  subject has not come up? Because it certainly

         24  strikes me that the coordination between ACS, DYCD,

         25  DHS, and DJJ, quite frankly, needs to be about 1,000
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          2  percent improved on this particular area.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: We're

          4  continuing to work on those efforts. We are a

          5  participant in that group.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I think

          7  you know, Mr. Chairman. I have more than said my

          8  piece. We have got to do better. You know, I have

          9  made it my commitment to do my very best before I

         10  leave office to make sure that no kids are sleeping

         11  on the street. And that's going to be a near

         12  impossible task, if every year we graduate more kids

         13  to sleep on the street. And we've got to do better,

         14  and one of the places that we are hemorrhaging is

         15  kids aging out of foster care. I will talk to DJJ

         16  about their role in this, as well, but I am here to

         17  let you know, you know, I'm going to be a pain in

         18  the ass, and we've got to do better. We've got to

         19  figure out a way to keep these kids from aging out

         20  to the street, or as the Chairman said, to a shelter

         21  bed, better than the street but they should be

         22  finding those nurturing environments.

         23                 Those that aren't we've got to track

         24  better so that we can get them the services they

         25  need before they destroy their own lives and become
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          2  a burden to society.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER:

          4  Councilman Fidler, if I could just say that we

          5  believe that the best way to prevent a young person

          6  from aging out is to work more productively with

          7  them when they're younger, so that there is a

          8  connection to an adult, and we certainly have made

          9  that a priority so that connecting a young person to

         10  someone who they can reach out to, as they get

         11  older, happens, we hope, more and more.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I would

         13  like to thank Council Member Fidler for his passion

         14  on this issue, because it's very, very justified,

         15  and I appreciate all you've done on it. And I want

         16  to just note the irony of your last statement.

         17                 The worst thing in the world, of

         18  course, is kids on the street, and then the step

         19  step up is going into shelter, which under State

         20  regulations is illegal for ACS to govern over. So,

         21  we have, you know, two bad outcomes that are not

         22  acceptable, and again, legally ACS is not allowed to

         23  have kids age out and go into shelter and it's quite

         24  obvious that that's happening both with DYCD and DHS

         25  shelters quite consistently.
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          2                 Let me call now on Council Member

          3  Jessica Lappin.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman. Since the Chair and Council Member Fidler

          6  have focused on housing, I wanted to ask a couple of

          7  questions relating to job skills and employment,

          8  because we know they can't keep the apartments if

          9  they can't afford to pay for them.

         10                 So, I think your Preparing Youth for

         11  Adulthood Plan laid out as an objective to develop

         12  marketable job skills and obtain full-time positions

         13  that carry health insurance; what exactly does ACS

         14  do to ensure that youth aging out of foster care are

         15  finding a job?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: What

         17  we're doing is working with HRA, we're working with

         18  provider agencies and holding monthly meetings in

         19  identifying internship or job opportunities for

         20  youth. We're committed in the plan that youth

         21  starting at 16 will at least be provided with

         22  internship opportunities, and one of the things that

         23  we've also done is partnered with DYCD in making

         24  sure that our youth applied for Summer Youth

         25  Employment.
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          2                 We're also working with Passport to

          3  Success, which is a United States Department of

          4  Labor grant where we partner with The Door and Arbor

          5  ENT in identifying jobs for youth in care, and also

          6  it's a holistic services (sic) so our youth aren't

          7  just getting jobs but they're able to keep jobs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: I guess my

          9  question is, how are these internships or

         10  opportunities communicated to the people, to these

         11  kids?

         12                 I mean, it's not a mandatory

         13  obligation that they have to take an internship or

         14  work during the summer. So, this is something that

         15  you're communicating to them as an option; is that

         16  correct?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: Well,

         18  the provider agencies are the ones who are

         19  communicating the information to them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: How are they

         21  doing that?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: I can't

         23  speak to how the 36 provider agencies are

         24  communicating the information to the youth. What

         25  we're doing is, as I noted, that we're having our
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          2  monthly meetings with the provider agencies to

          3  identify the opportunities for the youth.

          4                 Our direct communications with youth

          5  have been through some of our networking events that

          6  we've had throughout the year. With the two

          7  networking events that we had in industry-specific

          8  events, we've have over 400 youth who have

          9  participated.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Are those job

         11  fairs?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: They're

         13  not job fairs. They're opportunities to connect with

         14  youth in industries --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: What is that?

         16  Tell me what that means?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: When we

         18  say connect with you and industries, what we want to

         19  do is we want to make sure that our young people are

         20  exposed -- our young people identify industries that

         21  they're interested in. Our first Network to Success

         22  this year was in the hip hop industry. So, what we

         23  wanted to do is, where we had many young people who

         24  identified that they wanted to be a rapper or

         25  something along those lines, but we wanted to make
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          2  sure that our youth understood that there were a

          3  whole gamut of jobs in the hip hop industry. So,

          4  they got to see and meet professionals from the

          5  industry, some of which were in foster care, who

          6  have succeeded. They got the opportunity to see

          7  them, and also sit at a table with them and talk in

          8  different breakout sessions.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: So, showing

         10  that they have these opportunities is a good step,

         11  but then what's done to train them for these kinds

         12  of positions?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: To

         14  train them?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: To give them

         16  the skills that they need to apply for positions?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: If I may

         18  add, part of the strategy with building

         19  partnerships, if you will, with other existing

         20  non-for-profits who have programs that are

         21  specifically geared for youth aging out, so the

         22  Hecksher Foundation for example, has funded a

         23  program called The Academy and they're working

         24  directly with five contract agencies, and

         25  identifying youth aged 16 to 21 to provide job
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          2  development, to provide a host of skills related,

          3  including internships themselves.

          4                 We're also working, as Mr. Terry has

          5  indicated, through The Door with a U.S. Department

          6  of Labor initiative that really uses a whole

          7  coaching model to really work with youth, not only

          8  in helping them obtain internships or really develop

          9  the kind of skill sets that are necessary to

         10  maintain and keep employment, and we're very clearly

         11  communicating to our agencies and as we meet with

         12  them and train with them, about our expectation

         13  about the importance, and really the critical nature

         14  of really developing work skills in our young people

         15  and giving them opportunities for this. And as we

         16  move forward, this will be definitely one of the

         17  data elements that we'll be measuring.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Well, that was

         19  my next and my last question, was going back to the

         20  theme of this morning, which maybe is data

         21  collection and tracking. But of the kids, of the

         22  1,200 that aged out this year, how many of them are

         23  now employed? Do we know?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: I don't

         25  believe we have that data at hand. We might be able
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          2  to go back and retrieve it and follow-up with you on

          3  that. But let me also say, and I know there has been

          4  a lot of discussion about data and what we're doing

          5  to collect data, and really to know definitively the

          6  status of all of our children as they age out, that

          7  part of Improving Outcomes for Children really is a

          8  real -- what we're doing is we're building a really

          9  comprehensive score card where this will be, all of

         10  these indicators will be measured on a real time

         11  basis. And as I indicated earlier, will really be

         12  used by us to not only measure performance over a

         13  yearly basis, but on an ongoing basis, and enable us

         14  to provide the kind of technical assistance that may

         15  be indicated to improve performance.

         16                 So, we're really building a very

         17  comprehensive evaluation mechanism and quality

         18  assurance program that will incorporate not only PYA

         19  but all of our initiatives under Improving Outcomes

         20  for Children.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Well, I guess

         22  I would just add my voice to the chorus, and say

         23  that, you know, in order to determine whether or not

         24  these programs are being successful, whether or not

         25  these networking opportunities or internships are

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  turning into full-time positions, we have to know

          3  where these kids are.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          8  Council member.

          9                 Now Council Member Gale Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         11  much. Two questions. First of all, how do you keep

         12  in touch, both with the 197, who I think in 2007 are

         13  in Section 8 or NYCHA? Because even I'm a certified

         14  foster care parent, I haven't done it for awhile,

         15  but I have been certified, I've had 30 foster care

         16  kids, so I'm extremely familiar with this

         17  population. And I have two kids living with me who

         18  have no place to go, and I don't know what they are,

         19  they're just there. But the question is, how do you

         20  keep in touch with the 197 who are in housing, and

         21  who probably still need support? As Council Member

         22  Fidler said, issues never go away.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: So, part of

         24  our reinvestment is that we, our agencies are

         25  really, you know, can open -- for example, continue
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          2  to work with our youth after they leave care, and

          3  this is something we have to strengthen and really

          4  focus on.

          5                 Our Housing Unit also does follow-up

          6  with the agencies, not so much I guess once you're

          7  actually placed, but in really helping to support

          8  children, meet the interviewing requirements and

          9  kind of, we try to develop also some real estate

         10  agents and really figure out a way to help our youth

         11  who have Section 8 vouchers also actually find

         12  apartments and locate suitable roommates.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: So, we're

         15  building some of this.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, I guess

         17  I'm saying with the 197, when you respond to the

         18  Committee, I'd like to know what local

         19  community-based organization, or what local adult,

         20  could be a neighbor, they are in touch with. I could

         21  only second, third the issue of you need help later

         22  on.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I can't tell

         25  you how many experiences I've had, it's probably in
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          2  the millions, with my particular situation.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: So you also

          4  will probably understand and agree why it's so

          5  important that they have these really important

          6  connections to family --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Every single

          8  day.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Second is, how

         11  do you keep in touch with whatever number it is that

         12  are not on any of these services?

         13                 I know that you're trying to work on

         14  the database, but young people, not all but many

         15  have a friend with an e-mail, IM, et cetera, just

         16  recently, long story short, young person is jumped

         17  in my neighborhood, goes to the precinct with his

         18  mother to make a report, cops go through the

         19  mugshot, with all due respect to the Police

         20  Department, they didn't go to Myspace.com, young

         21  person said go to Myspace.com and there were all

         22  four of the muggers, right there, living color with

         23  their names. Police Department, wake up. Young

         24  people know more than you do.

         25                 And I say that because they all have
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          2  connections to some kind of communication. How do

          3  you keep in -- have you figured out how to

          4  communicate with this group of people whom you may

          5  not know? When they leave foster care, do you

          6  discuss some kind of ongoing communication in this

          7  technology age? Everybody can IM.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: No,

          9  you're right. And I think that that is connected

         10  maybe to an answer to a question that Council Member

         11  Lappin asked with respect to how do we connect our

         12  young people with intern opportunities or jobs, and

         13  the answer to the question I think is good case

         14  work. And, so, all of our young people who are in

         15  care do have a case worker who is supposed to be --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Who probably

         17  may not know what IM is.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Well, I

         19  don't know about that. You will find that in the

         20  child welfare field we are communicating a lot more

         21  by e-mail with one another as professionals and part

         22  of that is driven by the fact that our youth demand

         23  that we communicate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. There is

         25  IM and there's e-mail. You know, it's two different
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          2  things. But what I'm saying is that I promised you

          3  that every one of those young people, 99.9 of them,

          4  has that capability. Maybe not with a caseworker,

          5  but with his or her friends. So, you need to be part

          6  of that. Is there somebody here who understands what

          7  I'm saying?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: Yes. I

          9  hope I understand what you're saying.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: What we

         12  are doing, just with regard to technology, is that

         13  we will probably in August of this year, be able to

         14  launch our PYA website.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It was

         16  supposed to be '06, but now it's going to be '07?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: We're

         18  working with communications.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I was just

         20  going to say, Tom Brown and Keith can help you.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: We're

         22  working closely with them. We're reviewing the

         23  content of it. We also have youth who are reviewing

         24  the content of it. And they're giving us our input.

         25  We want to make sure that it's going to be something
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          2  that's going to be really viable and useful for the

          3  youth. So, with regard to your question, I do think

          4  we are going to incorporate technology, in being

          5  able to --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And does

          7  Youth Line still exist at DYCD?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: Yes, it

          9  does.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And are they

         11  part of this discussion?

         12                 Are they part of your meetings with

         13  DYCD? How do they participate in this discussion for

         14  young people who may call them who don't have some

         15  place else to call? That's a Murphy Youth Line. I

         16  call it "The Murphy Youth Line." Go ahead.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: With

         18  regard to Youth Line, we're working with the Youth

         19  Board, Youth Council. That's how I'm familiar with

         20  Youth Line. They are now part of a separate working

         21  group and assisting us with the website development,

         22  that's something that I will take back.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. There's

         24  lots of issues here. I will just suggest that the

         25  communication that young people used, the City
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          2  should figure out. And you should be part of it.

          3  It's the library, 20 minutes on the computer,

          4  everybody has an e-mail address. Not everybody but

          5  many, and everybody, everybody, everybody has IM. I

          6  think my son is one of the only ones who doesn't in

          7  the whole world. But I will tell you that everybody

          8  else does. And so I would suggest that you've got to

          9  get into that network. Thank you very much, Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         12  Council member. And I hope there is a representative

         13  from the Police Department who passes on the fact

         14  that Myspace could be a valuable policing tool going

         15  forward, because Council Member Brewer is absolutely

         16  right.

         17                 Let me raise a couple of other

         18  questions while we have you.

         19                 One of the clear themes that my

         20  colleagues are bringing up is what we're actually

         21  doing to communicate with young folks to get them

         22  ready. Now, in your Preparing Youth for Adulthood

         23  Report, this is about a year ago you put it out, you

         24  pledged that your website would be launched by

         25  August 2006. Has it been launched? Is it about to be
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          2  launched?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: No, the

          4  website hasn't been launched. It's going to be

          5  launched in August, we believe August of this year.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now, it

          7  seems to me that it's crucial that this website be

          8  accessible and clear and informable and usable, that

          9  there clearly is not any kind of uniformity in what

         10  kind of information the young people are getting.

         11  And Assistant Commissioner Terry, you said in answer

         12  to a question a few moments back, and I quote, you

         13  said you can't say how the agencies are

         14  communicating with the young folks. And, you know,

         15  it seems to me we have one problem of tracking and

         16  being able to understand accountability, and we have

         17  another problem of creating some uniformity and

         18  clarity in the information young people get to

         19  maximize their positive chances here. And, again, I

         20  keep saying to people, this is not your average

         21  young person, this is a young person who has been

         22  through the ringer and is facing incredible

         23  challenges. So, any young person needs support and

         24  information, these young people really need the best

         25  available support and information.
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          2                 So, I just want to emphasize, it

          3  sounds like we have a big job ahead in terms of

          4  creating some consistency throughout all the

          5  different agencies that touch these young people, in

          6  terms of making that information available.

          7                 Now, I don't hear in all of this any

          8  commitment to more than just a database but to an

          9  actual rigorous tracking process. So, you know, the

         10  police had Comstat, that has led directly to ACS

         11  adopting ChildStat. That's a crucial tool, and

         12  that's crucial in the fight against child abuse, but

         13  it seems to me, particularly given the challenges

         14  these young people have faced, that a similar tool

         15  would be necessary here, particularly some finite

         16  population.

         17                 Is there any plan to create that kind

         18  of rigorous tracking accountability structure within

         19  your part of the agency?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: So, through

         21  IOC, through Improving Outcomes and our current

         22  shift in how we will do practice, the Family Team

         23  Conference models, which will include quarterly

         24  permanency hearings for each child, every single

         25  child in foster care, and with that a vigorous
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          2  tracking system to really measure and determine what

          3  those plans are and what outcomes we're getting from

          4  that is being developed and will be rolled out

          5  beginning next month.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, by the

          7  beginning of next month there will be a tracking

          8  system. But let me clarify, I'm saying will it be

          9  cases get reviewed with the leadership of the agency

         10  present with a critical eye, with critique when

         11  things are not handled properly, with a real

         12  positive pressure to get results for these kids, is

         13  it going to be that kind of rigorous system?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: So, we have

         15  had some beginning discussions about moving or

         16  expanding our current ChildStat review tool to the

         17  foster care provider and to children in foster care.

         18  So, we've had some beginning discussions internally

         19  and we've begun to have those discussions with

         20  provider agencies, about how we would do that,

         21  expand that ChildStat into foster care.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: And I

         23  just want to add that we have had in ChildStat,

         24  which I know you're familiar with, cases that are

         25  pulled randomly from our Office of Special
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          2  Investigations, and, so, those involve foster home

          3  investigations very frequently. So, we actually have

          4  had cases where there are teens who are the subject

          5  of the ChildStat case, and the Commissioner and the

          6  other leaders of the Division of Child Protection

          7  are asking questions about the kind of foster care

          8  services that were or were not provided to

          9  adolescents, and we have actually followed up with

         10  foster care agencies about specific cases. So,

         11  ChildStat has encompassed at times young people in

         12  our system.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Deputy

         14  Commissioner, every time you say something to be

         15  reassuring, and I know again it's well intentioned,

         16  it kind of creates some of the opposite feeling in

         17  me. Because if it's starting to happen in bits and

         18  pieces, there should be a total urgency about making

         19  it happen for every case.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I don't

         21  disagree with you. I think what Deputy Commissioner

         22  Ruiz said was that we are talking about making

         23  ChildStat, expanding it to kids in foster care as

         24  well, but I wanted to add for you that that has

         25  happened, and so some of the spotlight has been on
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          2  exactly what you're addressing.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: On a

          4  smaller level?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: What

          7  I'd also like to let you know is that what we have

          8  done is we started case reviews, as it was mentioned

          9  in the testimony of Deputy Commissioner Ruiz, that

         10  we've worked on doing case reviews and identifying

         11  and communicating specifically what we believe is

         12  critical and planning for youth who are going to be

         13  discharged and the critical elements do fall within

         14  the PYA 6 goals. We started this, that's an effort

         15  of making sure that we're communicating directly to

         16  provider agencies, to say what it is that we believe

         17  should be done. That is a first step. It definitely

         18  is. But we do believe that this is an optimist -- we

         19  are optimistic about what it is that we're doing

         20  with regard to working with provider agencies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

         22  say, though, with roughly 1,000 kids in particular

         23  risk, first we're not tracking them; second, we're

         24  not creating accountability. Right now if a kid

         25  falls through the cracks, ends up on the streets,
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          2  ends up in shelter, you obviously are not

          3  necessarily aware of it, nor is there any sanction,

          4  is there any sense of accountability, both within

          5  your agency, the other City agencies, the

          6  non-profits you work for. So, I think we've all

          7  learned about the difference between an

          8  unaccountable system and an accountable system. A

          9  lot of why the public safety situation in this City

         10  turned around was there was accountability. So, I'm

         11  glad you're having discussions, but it would seem to

         12  me, with so many -- with so few kids with so many

         13  problems, that getting an accountability system in

         14  order that really led to consequences when a child

         15  fell through the cracks would be crucial, because

         16  there is nothing else to defend these kids.

         17                 And it leads me also to the point,

         18  obviously another reason the City safety situation

         19  turned around with more police officers, the reason

         20  why we're doing better fighting child abuse is more

         21  caseworkers; is this a staffing issue, too? Are you

         22  in part, and I'll say it bluntly, are you not able

         23  to keep track of these kids and make sure they end

         24  up in more positive outcomes because you don't have

         25  enough people to handle the cases?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: No, that's

          3  not the issue. And again, I keep going back to

          4  Improving Outcomes for Children, and the model and

          5  what that's going to provide and the flexible

          6  funding that it will provide to provider agencies to

          7  do just that, to use the monies more effectively, to

          8  do the work that is so desperately needed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, just a

         10  couple of specifics now. We have heard that there is

         11  not a particularly clear approach to helping a young

         12  person fill out the application for NYCHA. So, we

         13  already have a bit of a difference here because you

         14  optimistically point out there is a preference for

         15  young people aging out of foster care for NYCHA, and

         16  yet we have no sense from you what the numbers are,

         17  how much that is happening or what number of kids

         18  who apply get in or any of that. But we also have

         19  heard consistently that young people are not getting

         20  the information, not getting the support in filling

         21  out the application, not getting the follow-up to

         22  make sure it actually goes through; can you speak to

         23  that?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We have a

         25  housing unit that we continue to build and house and

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  really strengthen. As I indicated, we have developed

          3  these desk aids to make sure that the information is

          4  very clearly set forth and widely, widely

          5  distributed to all our providers, including the law

          6  guardian community and advocate community and the

          7  youth themselves. So, we've taken a lot of steps to

          8  make sure that that's not the case.

          9                 We have a walk-in system where any

         10  youth can walk into our office and get information

         11  on their own. There is no requirement necessarily

         12  they go through their agency, because, you know, we

         13  want to be able to be a full service, you know,

         14  operation for our client. So, we continue to build

         15  our office, and I know there were in the past, for

         16  example, last year there were some human resource

         17  issues within that office, and we've taken some

         18  steps to really strengthen and address those issues,

         19  and we will continue to do so, and strengthening our

         20  relationship with NYCHA also. And as I indicated,

         21  now that we have access to the database, that

         22  clearly provides us the opportunity to really

         23  monitor and view and track the applications that we

         24  have submitted on behalf of our children, to ensure

         25  that that doesn't fall through the cracks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But right now

          3  you can't say with assurance that a young person

          4  definitely gets facilitation in filling out the

          5  application, and there's any following through to

          6  see if there's outstanding problems with the

          7  application, that kind of direct hands-on approach

          8  is not occurring consistently?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: For any

         10  child we know of, yes, it is. If we don't know of a

         11  particular situation, then obviously --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But you don't

         13  know once an application goes in, you're not

         14  necessarily, if I'm hearing you correctly, you don't

         15  have staff that follow-up with NYCHA, make sure

         16  everything is complete, make sure if there's an

         17  issue it gets resolved?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Oh, no, no,

         19  I'm sorry. If that's what I communicated, it's

         20  miscommunication. In fact, the opposite is true that

         21  with the database, and with the fact that we have

         22  access to the NYCHA database, we are very much able

         23  to track every single application that we submit on

         24  behalf of our children to ensure that it's moving

         25  forward and completed.

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If an

          3  application is lacking information, who is

          4  responsible for fixing that?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: The

          6  information gets transmitted back to the housing

          7  unit at Children's Services, and it's our

          8  responsibility to communicate with the planning

          9  agency that initiated, you know, where the child is,

         10  and ensure that that information is obtained.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If a child is

         12  rejected, and you think they shouldn't have been,

         13  whose responsibility is it for --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We have a

         15  mechanism that we can, on a case-by-case basis,

         16  depending on the reason for rejection, there are

         17  some statutory or legal reasons why children might

         18  get rejected, but to appeal that decision. And we

         19  have on a case-by-case basis been able to reverse or

         20  to -- NYCHA has reconsidered their initial denial.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But you don't

         22  have numbers on how many reconsiderations occurred

         23  successfully?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Not at this

         25  point. We can get that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We want those

          3  numbers as well.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, I

          6  understand that NYCHA used to allow young people to

          7  apply up to the age of 23 if they are aging out of

          8  foster care, and now the new and more limiting rule

          9  is that they must have a 100 percent complete and

         10  accurate application, and by the point that they are

         11  19 years and six months old; is that correct?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: That is not

         13  correct. The cutoff age is -- well, the requirement

         14  is they have to be in foster care, and legally a

         15  child can only be in foster care up to the age of

         16  21. So, as long as the application is made before

         17  the 21st birthday, and they're actively in foster

         18  care, they are eligible to receive NYCHA priority.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But if they are

         20  one day out of foster care, they're not eligible to

         21  apply?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: That's

         23  correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And do you have

         25  a system to make sure everyone applies in time?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: That is our

          3  goal and our intent, and all of our work is really

          4  directed at ensuring that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay,

          6  obviously, and it's the same vein, but it's

          7  particularly crucial, and here is a resource we

          8  control as the City, NYCHA, and we know it's quality

          9  housing and stable housing, and every child we don't

         10  get to apply in time who would be eligible, we're

         11  really losing something that's not replaceable

         12  because given what's happening in the private

         13  housing market, that becomes a crap shoot.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: The other

         15  measure we have taken is to ensure then any child

         16  who even signs himself or herself out of foster

         17  care, that we not close out their case and leave

         18  them on child discharge status until they do reach

         19  the age of 21, as a safety net.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I also think

         21  it's crucial that we look at what happens, and I'm

         22  not hearing a lot about tracking kids once they

         23  leave and having a consistent sense of outcomes and

         24  looking at what works and what doesn't. My first

         25  concern is that we actually track each kid and try
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          2  and make sure the situation is resolved favorably,

          3  but it sounds like we have a lot of work to do to

          4  understand, or on a bigger level, what's working,

          5  and my sense is we're not looking a year or two,

          6  three, after they leave foster care to see what's

          7  happening and what we can learn from it; is that

          8  accurate?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: That's

         10  accurate, and we're building that as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Same vein,

         12  Medicaid. My understanding is that there is a

         13  transitional Medicaid status available to young

         14  people 18 to 21, and that the federal Medicaid law

         15  allows for automatically covering former foster

         16  youth during that age range. Many states take

         17  advantage of this, but apparently this has not been

         18  particularly successful here in New York. There are

         19  coordination issues, and it's not clear that we're

         20  taking advantage of this opportunity; can you speak

         21  to that?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: There is a

         23  community Medicaid provision for four months out

         24  once you age out or leave foster care, with of

         25  course the ability to then apply during that
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          2  four-month period for ongoing Medicaid if you're

          3  eligible.

          4                 And we do, in fact, do that for our

          5  youth aging out. We do have a mechanism for doing

          6  that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And, clearly,

          8  of all challenges these folks are facing, lack of

          9  health insurance is, again, one of the most basic

         10  and potentially most damning. But do you have any

         11  numbers on how many numbers on how many young people

         12  you've been able to get that Medicaid for?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We can get

         14  those numbers to you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On housing one

         16  more time, do you have any kind of policy that

         17  requires your employees and caseworkers with

         18  agencies you fund to review housing options with

         19  young people before they turn 18, so there is some

         20  work going into it before it's too late?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Yes. Well,

         22  that's obviously an important piece and one of the

         23  goals of our PYA plan, and as we move to

         24  implementation, and one of the measurements that

         25  we're building to ensure that that's happening.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But there's no

          3  obligation right now?

          4                 In other words, there's nothing,

          5  again, in an accountability type of structure, there

          6  is nothing that is an absolute requirement that that

          7  young person has been briefed by a certain point

          8  early enough so they understand their options before

          9  it's too late?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TERRY: Well,

         11  with the modifications that we're doing through IOC

         12  and through our PAM system (phonetic), through our

         13  own QA (phonetic), there is going to be

         14  modifications in the new PES, which is a PAM system,

         15  that will indicate that agencies should be speaking

         16  to their youth much earlier with regard to housing

         17  options.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

         19  make crystal clear before we finish this part of the

         20  hearing, I really think there's a big difference

         21  between goals and saying we should and having

         22  meetings and all versus pure managerial requirements

         23  that if someone does not follow through on, there

         24  are sanctions, there are ramifications.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Absolutely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So what I'm

          3  hearing at this moment is there is not an ironclad

          4  rule that says well in advance of a young person

          5  potentially facing this challenge, including if the

          6  young person decides to leave foster care on their

          7  own, which makes it no less important that we have

          8  armed them with knowledge and prepared them, it

          9  doesn't sound like we have any specific requirement

         10  that they are given information and briefed early in

         11  the process.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Our

         13  provider agency caseworkers are required, pursuant

         14  to independent living, the independent living

         15  protocol, to speak with youth and advise youth

         16  around housing. So, your question whether we are

         17  aware, whether every agency case planner sitting

         18  down with every youth is actually having that

         19  conversation, you're right, we can't tell you that

         20  that conversation is taking place. We can tell you

         21  that we have provided the agencies with the

         22  information necessary so that it can be provided to

         23  our young people.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I mean, is it

         25  clear as a policy matter that it has to happen well
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          2  before they turn 18?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: It is.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: It's

          6  part of the Independent Living protocol, it has to

          7  start happening well before the youth reaches 18.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But you agree

          9  there is no sanction and no accountability

         10  structure, agencies might just not do it.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Agencies

         12  might just not do it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, do I

         14  hear a clear commitment that there's going to be, in

         15  addition to a ChildStat model, that there is going

         16  to be some clear sense of a negative ramification,

         17  if they're not basically providing this information?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On a timely

         20  basis?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Yes.

         22  Yes.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: It's being

         24  integrated into the score card under IOC.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me take one
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          2  step back on the Medicaid, because I forgot to ask

          3  one piece of this. Do you support the State of New

          4  York providing this transitional Medicaid to all

          5  young people in the 18 to 21 range who are in foster

          6  care or leaving foster care? And if so, are you

          7  doing anything at the state level to try and get

          8  that instituted in New York State? Because

          9  apparently 17 states are doing this regularly now,

         10  and a number of others are trying to take advantage

         11  of that element of the Medicaid law. Can you speak

         12  to that?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: Right.

         14  Councilman DeBlasio, we will certainly look

         15  carefully at what you're raising and consider

         16  working with Albany to try to achieve the coverage

         17  you're describing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I mean, I'll

         19  summarize the point to say whether it's NYCHA,

         20  whether it's Medicaid, whatever, we've put a lot of

         21  the priority in General Welfare Committee on getting

         22  people benefits that are available, and you know as

         23  well as I do, by and large federally funded, which

         24  makes all the sense in the world. And by the way, if

         25  you're going to create some kind of real safety net
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          2  for these young folks, you know, some basic benefits

          3  that will have continuity while they try and work

          4  out the rest of their lives, hopefully with some

          5  help, you know, could be one of the most profound

          6  building blocks we give. And we've had enough

          7  trouble moving the Administration to sign up people

          8  for food stamps as it is, or Medicaid as it is. I

          9  think there's finally become more of a consensus

         10  around that and finally more action, but this group

         11  of young people needs it I think even more

         12  desperately than the general population.

         13                 And short of a ChildStat type of

         14  system that says, you know, goes down the line with

         15  each kid's case, you know, are they eligible for

         16  food stamps, have we signed them up? Are they

         17  eligible for Medicaid, have we signed them up? Are

         18  they eligible for NYCHA? Is the application in?

         19  Short of that, we're leaving a lot of money on the

         20  table and therefore, starting that trajectory where

         21  kids could end up in extremely unacceptable

         22  circumstances.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RICHTER: I don't

         24  want to be too reassuring, but you know that New

         25  York State is one of the nine in the country, I
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          2  think it's nine, that actually has foster care

          3  through a youngster's 21st birthday, and it does

          4  seem like what you're describing is consistent with

          5  New York State's interest in continuing to work with

          6  youth as they transition to adulthood.

          7                 So, we will certainly look into that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right.

          9                 Lastly, another sad subset of all of

         10  this is that we understand there is some substantial

         11  occurrence of adopted families ending up breaking

         12  down in effect and children having to leave them,

         13  and in another vein, children who are supposed to be

         14  in care, including in group settings who go AWOL.

         15  So, these are specific challenges within even the

         16  greater challenges we're discussing. Can you speak

         17  to what you're doing when a child, we believe the

         18  case has been concluded, they've been adopted, and

         19  then it falls apart? Can you talk to us about what

         20  you're doing for kids who go AWOL from our group

         21  settings?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: I'm sorry,

         23  so the adoption question first and then the AWOL

         24  question second.

         25                 On the adoption front, post-adopt
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          2  services are critically important to ensuring that

          3  we preserve adoptions. And for the last two years,

          4  for example, ACS was awarded federal adoption

          5  incentive monies based on our outstanding adoptions

          6  nationally.

          7                 Every single dollar that we have

          8  received as part of that incentive award,

          9  Commissioner Mattingly devoted to post-adopt

         10  services, and we actually funded a number directly.

         11  We provided funding to a number of provider agencies

         12  who have post-adopt programs to further enhance

         13  their ability to provide this critical service.

         14                 We also have adoption recruitment

         15  contracts with private non-profit providers, who

         16  among in addition to seeking and finding recruiting

         17  adoptive families for our youth and for our

         18  children, also provide post-adopt services.

         19                 We have internal to ACS a small unit,

         20  post-adopt unit, that really develops a lot of

         21  linkages and has a database and extensive manuals

         22  for community-based providers at work. We have

         23  hosted, for example, post-adopt conferences for the

         24  last two consecutive years, where we have brought to

         25  the conferences providers who really specialize in
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          2  post adopt, for example, mental health providers who

          3  really understand the dynamics of the mental health

          4  needs of adoptive families and adoptive children and

          5  who can really, you know, have really come to

          6  address what those are and what those services are.

          7                 So, we have done a substantial amount

          8  of work. It's not to say that more isn't needed,

          9  more funding is needed, more support to our adoptive

         10  families is very much indicated but is a very high

         11  priority for us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And do you have

         13  numbers on how many young people each year end up

         14  getting turned away, if you will, from their

         15  adoptive families?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Are you

         17  talking about disruptions before the adoption occurs

         18  or after?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Both.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Same outcome,

         22  unfortunately.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Yes.

         24                 The difficulty with tracking post

         25  adoption disruptions are that once a child is
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          2  legally adopted their name changes. And so that's

          3  been a real challenge and something that we've had a

          4  lot of discussion about with OCFS, as well. So,

          5  that's a real problem with the changing of the name

          6  and to really go back, and once the adoption records

          7  are sealed.

          8                 On the preadoption numbers, we can go

          9  back and look and see if we have that. Again, this

         10  goes back, though. I do want to tie it into the

         11  foster parents support and training dollars and

         12  really providing the post-adopt services and

         13  assuring families those services are there so that

         14  it really addresses their concerns that they may

         15  have about going forward with an adoption. And also,

         16  of course, achieving adoptions earlier in time, and

         17  really shortening the time to adopt.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And lastly, on

         19  the young people who go AWOL, could you just talk to

         20  us again? I'm going to ask for numbers, I have a

         21  feeling I'm not going to get them and I want to just

         22  say to you guys, you're good professionals, but

         23  don't come to hearings without these basic numbers.

         24  You could have thought about these Q and A's

         25  yourself and come up with these same questions, and
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          2  we gave you a lot of sense of what we were going to

          3  ask about.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: We do have

          5  data on the AWOL work that we've been doing. We've

          6  done aggressive work in the AWOL area over the last

          7  year, including really creating an AWOL unit that

          8  provides technical assistance to all our agencies

          9  through our special advisor, special investigations.

         10  We've been able also to work with our provider

         11  agencies to really establish better relationships

         12  with all the neighborhood precincts, to be able to

         13  really report children --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But could you

         15  give us the numbers? How many kids is this happening

         16  to each year?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Well, today

         18  it's a day-by-day thing, and you can't say a year

         19  but today -- yesterday rather, when I last got the

         20  number, there were 174 children, of which 47 were

         21  between the ages of 18 and 21.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's a

         23  substantial number within this larger population,

         24  okay. Look, you have a lot of homework. We've asked

         25  a lot of questions, we'd like facts back, we'd like
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          2  answers, and clear time lines back. We'll send you a

          3  follow-up letter but I think even before that you

          4  have a very clear sense of the kind of information

          5  we need, and it's obvious that we'll need to hold a

          6  follow-up hearing in the near future, and we want to

          7  work very closely with Chairman Fidler and his

          8  Committee, as well. And I think particularly to try

          9  and bind together that reality of ACS, DYCD and DHS

         10  and how we're addressing the many kids falling

         11  through the cracks.

         12                 So, with that, I thank you for your

         13  testimony, and we look forward to following up with

         14  you.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RUIZ: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We've got

         17  several more panels. Again, we're going to ask

         18  everyone to please be to the point and direct, and

         19  summarize whenever possible. The first panel is

         20  Giselle John of Voices of Youth, and I believe she

         21  is bringing with her a couple of the young people

         22  who spoke earlier, Linette Roberts and Mary Brown.

         23  And EP Jones from In The Spirit of Children, and I

         24  believe has with him Brandon James, as well. We

         25  welcome all of you to the witness table.
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          2                 We thank all of you for being here,

          3  and we really appreciate whenever people tell us

          4  their personal stories. It helps us so much to

          5  understand what kids are going through and how we

          6  can help. So, we really can't thank you enough.

          7                 Who would like to go first?

          8                 MS. JONES: My name is E.P. Jones. I'm

          9  from In The Spirit Of The Children. I'm the

         10  Executive Director and Founder. In The Spirit of the

         11  Children opened its doors in the winter of 2003, and

         12  its sole purpose was to service the youth who are

         13  aging out exclusively in order to avert homelessness

         14  of this population.

         15                 I'm a little out of breath right now,

         16  because I have to be honest and forthright with

         17  people, and I'm sorry, I meant to give this to the

         18  Counsel, but I'm a little incensed about what I just

         19  heard. I have never been one to play games.

         20                 With regards to the numbers of young

         21  people, I want to answer the question, that have

         22  aged out in the last calendar year, that have wound

         23  up in DHS facilities, I contacted DHS in March and

         24  was told unofficially, through their intake unit --

         25  yes, their intake unit, that they received close to
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          2  33 youth over the course of the calendar year that

          3  had a direct affiliation with ACS or haven't been in

          4  placement. Those were the unofficial numbers that I

          5  were given.

          6                 Number two, I have this speech and I

          7  just can't read it, I can't do it, because what I

          8  heard with regards to the young people and applying

          9  for NYCHA and Section 8, I have personally taken a

         10  number of young people that have been referred to

         11  our program, to 150 William Street in the last

         12  calendar year, they have been very pointedly told

         13  that either they were not working or pregnant or not

         14  able to fill out and/or complete NYCHA or Section 8

         15  applications.

         16                 We have a number a young people who

         17  we have received in the last calendar year who have

         18  directly exited foster care, directly into a DHS

         19  facility. One of the young people was highlighted

         20  from December of 2006, and she was one of them. She

         21  spent nine months in a DHS facility, and, yes, we

         22  worked diligently to get her Section 8 and NYCHA

         23  application completed through ACS. She had to

         24  complete that four times. Four times. At the time

         25  she was seven months pregnant. Each time we would
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          2  contact the housing unit down at 150, they would say

          3  they lost it. And I'm sorry to say that, you know,

          4  for all intents and purposes, whatever they might be

          5  trying to implement at ACS, up until this point it's

          6  not working. A lot of it is too fast and too

          7  furious, without any forethought. I really don't

          8  feel as though they take in consideration young

          9  people's well-being, where they will ultimately end

         10  up.

         11                 There have been circumstances where

         12  young people have also completed an application,

         13  might have been notified by NYCHA for an actual

         14  interview, and then we get there and discover that

         15  they have infractions. These infractions might have

         16  occurred when they were 15, 16, 17 years of age, and

         17  they were still in placement. The young person might

         18  have very well not shared with a law guardian or a

         19  caseworker about this infraction, and then now, six

         20  months later, or six years later, it becomes an

         21  impediment to them actually receiving actual

         22  housing.

         23                 So, again, with respect to

         24  applications as a whole, back in 2006, in the fall

         25  of 2006, it was right after NYCHA and Section 8 had
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          2  constructed a new plan in which they came up with

          3  the young person could only complete an application

          4  if he or she was 20 and six months. Anything after

          5  20 and six months, the application would be

          6  considered nullified or they would not allow them to

          7  fill one out.

          8                 There's another issue that I've been

          9  seeing with a number of our young people, in terms

         10  of those who are not being afforded housing subsidy,

         11  which is the one-shot deal under the 621-A of an

         12  actual housing subsidy application through ACS. We

         13  have had recent incidences where we've been calling

         14  ACS and fighting tooth and nail in order to assist

         15  these youngsters with one-shot deals to help them

         16  secure. One-shot deal, in essence, is one month's

         17  rent and one month's security. A given young person

         18  can receive up to 1,800 to 3,600 dollars to help

         19  them secure.

         20                 I just recently, in the last two

         21  weeks, was screaming to the top of my lungs because

         22  a young person's housing subsidy application had

         23  been signed and approved prior to his or her 21st

         24  birthday, and ACS told me emphatically, well, sorry,

         25  we gave them furniture out of a warehouse that was
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          2  donated, so therefore they're not entitled. I

          3  thought I was going to go through the telephone,

          4  because, see, that's inappropriate. You tell them

          5  one thing and then you change horses midstream in

          6  the race. Then you'll turn around and they'll change

          7  rules and regulations every 15 or 20 minutes. You

          8  call down there one time and it's this, you call

          9  down there in the next and it's something totally

         10  different.

         11                 There is no continuity in what

         12  they're doing. They're not really taking into

         13  consideration again the impact or the well-being of

         14  the young person, what will it be in the long range.

         15                 I want to speak for a moment on

         16  18-year-olds who sign themselves out. In the last

         17  year, overall, In The Spirit of the Children has

         18  seen a 56 percent increase in the number of young

         19  people that have been referred to our program.

         20  Between January 2006 and January 2007, there were 48

         21  new referrals. We're a small community-based

         22  program. We're non-residential, we work with the

         23  young people, not on a temporary basis, but to

         24  ensure they not only obtain housing, but they

         25  maintain housing. We work with them to ensure that
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          2  they get employment and maintain employment.

          3                 The characteristics of this

          4  particular population, as Mr. Felder had referenced

          5  earlier, you cannot treat them in a box. You can't.

          6  You can't service them that way. It's about human

          7  development, it's about skill development, and it's

          8  about learning how to apply it to the real world, as

          9  they move forward in life.

         10                 Eighteen-year-olds.

         11  Eighteen-year-olds who are signing themselves out.

         12  In October of 2006, we received a referral of an

         13  18-year-old who had signed his or herself out in

         14  July of 2006. At that point she was six months

         15  pregnant. When I contacted ACS and said this young

         16  person has no recourse right now, because she had

         17  been previously adopted, which will also speak to

         18  your adoption question, and a recidivism rate of

         19  those adoptions that actually fall through, this

         20  young person had initially been adopted at the age

         21  of ten and it turned out the adoption itself two

         22  years later had fell through, due to other

         23  circumstances. So, she reentered into placement. She

         24  reentered into placement for six years.

         25                 After six years the child was
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          2  frustrated and had given up with being in care,

          3  decided to sign herself out. Now, if they were

          4  really tracking and paying attention to the young

          5  people that they have charge over, then you would

          6  have asked her, what recourse would you have if we

          7  allow you now, because you're legally 18, what

          8  recourse will you have to take care of yourself and

          9  your unborn child? That question was never raised.

         10  So, the young person thought that because of some,

         11  whatever illusions they might have had, that I can

         12  go out here and sign myself out and raise my unborn

         13  child with the father, for which she didn't know

         14  where he was. Wonderful. But the truth of the matter

         15  is, now you're here at 18, it's what, four months

         16  after you signed yourself out, and you have nowhere

         17  to go. So, we call and advocate to have ACS under

         18  the supervision, of supervision to 21 to replace her

         19  back into care under a maternity program, so that

         20  she can give birth to this child and at least have

         21  medical coverage and prenatal. She had not had any

         22  prenatal coverage over the course of the first

         23  trimester of her pregnancy.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ms. Jones, I'm

         25  just going to interrupt and say, your testimony is
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          2  very helpful and you're pointing out some extremely

          3  specific ideas that we need to follow up on and I

          4  want to thank you. I just need to give you a little

          5  time caution, because I think it's very important we

          6  hear from these young folks directly as well, and as

          7  I said at the beginning, we are going to lose this

          8  room at 1:00 and we have three more panels.

          9                 MS. JONES: Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, if you

         11  would conclude, I would love to hear from the young

         12  folks, too.

         13                 MS. JONES: Okay. At this time I can

         14  conclude. I'm sure each of you have my testimony, so

         15  certainly you can read it. But I'd like Mr. James to

         16  speak a this time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I just want

         18  to note for you and for everyone else, all written

         19  testimony in addition to whatever other people

         20  summarize and say off the cuff, that all written

         21  summary will go into the formal record of the

         22  hearing as well.

         23                 MS. JONES: I appreciate that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, we thank

         25  you.
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          2                 Who would like to go next?

          3                 Please just turn on the -- you'll see

          4  the green lights come on when you push the button

          5  and just get the microphone to you, as close to you

          6  as possible, and everyone introduce yourself before

          7  you begin testimony. Thank you.

          8                 MR. JAMES: Hello. Good morning,

          9  everyone. My name is Brandon James, and I entered

         10  care in 2001, June of 2001, as a result of traumatic

         11  family problems. The first foster placement that I

         12  went to was a group home. I entered the group home

         13  when I was seventeen. I did receive some help when I

         14  entered the group home. I was able to get help with

         15  my Green Card and residency papers and all the

         16  various things.

         17                 I was in the group home until I was

         18  17 -- I mean until I was 20, and I left the group

         19  home and went to a SILP Program, a Supervised

         20  Independent Living Program, what's known as "SILP."

         21  The entire time that I was living in the SILP, I did

         22  not receive any help whatsoever regarding housing

         23  and education, because as Ms. Jones had pointed out,

         24  a lot of youths in foster care, when they filled out

         25  Section 8 applications, such as NYCHA applications
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          2  and whatnot, a lot of times the agencies misplaced

          3  those applications, so those applications, if they

          4  do get sent in, a lot of them do get held up through

          5  various form of bureaucracies. And, so, like when

          6  youth age out, often times we don't get housing and

          7  so forth. But the whole time I was in this SILP

          8  Program, which was under ACS, I did not have any

          9  help regarding housing education, because I had

         10  enrolled in college when I was 20, went into the

         11  SILP, and I was not offered any help with tuition

         12  and stuff like that, because they have programs

         13  that, according to them, that offer tuitions which

         14  help you with tuition payments on ACS, but, like,

         15  they keep changing the rules. Like, first they say

         16  that you have to be -- first they say they will help

         17  you up until age 23, then at the time I applied for

         18  it, they changed it and said, well, you have to be

         19  in school before you're 21, something like that, and

         20  I was unable to get any help because -- I find it

         21  confusing because, they say, well, we'll help you

         22  until you're 23, but when I applied first I was like

         23  20 and a half, and they told me I had to be in

         24  school before I was 19 -- I mean, before I was 20,

         25  so I don't know what was going on.
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          2                 And also, I did not fill out any

          3  NYCHA housing applications, and no one helped me. No

          4  one said, have you filled any applications regarding

          5  housing? And there wasn't any follow-up regarding

          6  that.

          7                 So, I got frustrated, so I solicited

          8  the help of a third-party organization by the name

          9  of "In The Spirit of Children," and with their help

         10  I was able to get a lot of services that should have

         11  been provided to me by ACS.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Brandon, I'm

         13  just going to jump in and say I really want to thank

         14  you, because for all of us who are here everyday at

         15  City Hall, and we speak into the microphone and

         16  there's cameras running, it's second-nature to us,

         17  but I know you're very earnestly, very sincerely

         18  telling us your story and I know it's not an easy

         19  thing to do, and I really appreciate that you're

         20  hanging in there and talking to us about it and

         21  telling us also real specific things that sound to

         22  be very different from what we just heard from ACS,

         23  because this is what we feared, that a bunch of

         24  people are not getting any kind of consistent

         25  message or support or help.
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          2                 So, hearing firsthand from you what

          3  you've experienced, really helps us to fill out the

          4  picture here of what's going on. I want to thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 Who would like to go next?

          7                 MS. BROWN: Good afternoon, ladies and

          8  gentlemen. As I have the opportunity to stand before

          9  you today, I'm not just speaking for myself, but

         10  also I want you all to keep in mind that there are

         11  20,000 to 25,000 youth leaving the foster care

         12  system unprepared to transit into adulthood.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         14  introduce yourself. Don't forget.

         15                 MS. BROWN: Oh, Mary Brown. I'm sorry.

         16  Well, since the age of 13 I have been in foster care

         17  with many ups and downs, but at the end of the day,

         18  I consider myself a success story.

         19                 For the last three years, I have been

         20  able to -- I have been given an opportunity to sit

         21  on a Board of Youth Leadership Advocates at OYD.

         22  During this time, especially last year, we have been

         23  able to sit with the Commissioner Mattingly on this

         24  PYA document.

         25                 While we was able to sit down and
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          2  have a meeting with him, we asked him, well, what

          3  would happen to the kids that will be caught into

          4  the middle of PYAB and introduced to the agencies,

          5  because you know it does take a process for it to

          6  get phased out.

          7                 He promised us -- well, we came up

          8  with the suggestion that for the youths that are

          9  about to age out of care, for them to get a grace

         10  period for a year and a half. The reason why we

         11  asked this is because most of the youth, including

         12  myself, that are sitting around the table, we were

         13  just about to start college. We were all entering

         14  almost our first year of school. So, he said, and I

         15  don't know if you all know, but ACS is kind of big

         16  on finishing your education, which is a good thing.

         17  So, he said, in order to ensure us to be able to

         18  continue our education, he would give us a grace

         19  period of up to a year and a half when we enter

         20  school, so that we could mention that we have stable

         21  housing, employment and medical attention also.

         22                 Well, come to find out lately, that

         23  offer is no longer on the table.

         24                 It used to be that you can get a

         25  policy up until you are 23 years old, as long as you
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          2  are in school with a consistency track record in

          3  good academic performance. Well, to let you all

          4  know, I'm three months from aging out of care, and I

          5  have no definite knowing of where I'm going to be.

          6                 Well, to speak to the people that was

          7  up here, I haven't had a case of management review

          8  since they have rolled out PYA. My agency did not

          9  help me with my housing. I had to go to somebody.

         10  Yes, I did go to somebody else. I did go to 150

         11  Williams, and, yes, they did help me fill out my

         12  Section 8 and my housing papers, but all in all, I

         13  have not got the help that I need.

         14                 Yes, I have taken all services that

         15  have been provided from the Office of Youth

         16  Development. I have a mental. I have people helping

         17  me in a job, but that is not enough. When I entered

         18  into care, I entered into care from a regular family

         19  center. My adoption was disrupted. Since the time I

         20  am coming back into care, no one has really done

         21  anything to help me find my real family, which has

         22  always been a constant issue on my mind.

         23                 So, for me to be aging out in three

         24  more months with no definite, I'm not going to sit

         25  here and say, oh, I'm ready. No, nobody is ever
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          2  ready, and I'm sure not ready, even with all the

          3  resources I have. Yes, all I heard today was

          4  housing, housing, housing. There's more to live than

          5  where you're going to live. What about your

          6  emotional and mental state? Yeah, you could put

          7  somebody in housing but if they're crazy they're

          8  going to lose their housing and go to jail anyway.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That makes it

         10  pretty plain. And thank you. Thank you for your

         11  perspective.

         12                 Linette.

         13                 MS. ROBERTS: Yes, good morning. My

         14  name is Linette Roberts, and I'm 22, and I have been

         15  out of care for a year. I would like to speak on the

         16  fact that from what I've heard earlier this morning,

         17  that I am one of those youth that have slipped

         18  through the cracks, that did not render the services

         19  needed to obtain proper housing, employment or

         20  education.

         21                 When I aged out, I did not have a

         22  worker, and I did not have an agency, because in

         23  2005, many offices and centers had closed down. So,

         24  I took it upon myself with the help of my Legal Aid

         25  lawyer, to find where my case had been sent and who
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          2  the worker was. Found out who the worker was, and we

          3  found out where I was placed. My foster mother had

          4  written a letter to let them know that I was

          5  pregnant and that I could no longer stay in her

          6  foster care home due to illness, so we went to the

          7  agency and let them know that we needed emergency

          8  housing. At the time I was about seven months

          9  pregnant.

         10                 The agency gave me options as far as

         11  mother and child shelters, soaps, or mother and

         12  child foster home, none of which would accept me

         13  because I was already 20 years old and about six or

         14  seven months away from aging out. Most of them

         15  require that you be 18 to 19 years old. So, none of

         16  those fit the criteria for me.

         17                 After an additional month and a half

         18  of waiting to hear back from the agency as to what

         19  they could do, my foster mother and I gave up, and

         20  my foster mother then took monies and obtained an

         21  apartment for me in her name for me and my unborn

         22  child to have somewhere to go.

         23                 At that time we were promised that we

         24  would receive housing subsidies, that my 621-A, I

         25  believe that is, would be filled out and that I
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          2  would be able to receive funding through ACS to keep

          3  my apartment running. I was in school and I was

          4  working two jobs at the time. None of that happened.

          5                 I was signed out of care. I don't

          6  know how I was signed out of care, because I never

          7  signed from care. I was told by their attorney that

          8  I would be put on trial discharge, and that someone

          9  would come once a month to supervise me and my child

         10  to see how we were getting along.

         11                 In the end, nothing was done, and as

         12  a result, now currently me and my family are living

         13  in a family shelter, and I feel that that is just,

         14  it's wrong. I didn't have anywhere else to go. I

         15  didn't have anyone else to turn to. I've been an

         16  advocate along with Mary Brown and Brandon for many

         17  years. I've always advocated for youth. I've worked

         18  with Ms. Jones in In The Spirit of the Children.

         19  I've been at OYD for over ten years, and for someone

         20  who has been a youth advocate for so long, who has

         21  given so much dedication to social services and

         22  helping other youth to not fall through these

         23  cracks, I'm appalled that I've fallen through the

         24  cracks, always being there for ACS, and standing by

         25  their word and standing by their commitment.
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          2                 And for me to have fallen through the

          3  cracks and now be homeless, because technically I am

          4  homeless, I'm with DHS, I feel that is a shame and

          5  it is a travesty because I didn't leave out with

          6  employment. I was in school, I had to give school up

          7  because of my situation, because DHS, there are a

          8  lot of appointments, there are a lot of things that

          9  you have to do, and I had to give up school for

         10  quite some time to be at home to deal with those

         11  needs and the special needs of my children. And I

         12  had no backing. There was no ACS to turn to. When In

         13  The Spirit of the Children had called the

         14  caseworker, my previous caseworker, the caseworker

         15  told them that they were sorry that there was

         16  nothing they could do. I was no longer on their

         17  caseload, and whatever happens, happens. And they

         18  hung up and that was how we were left.

         19                 So, I would really like to see

         20  something done for the age that have already aged

         21  out of youth care that are now in crisis, because

         22  I'm in crisis.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And it's very

         24  powerful that you're telling us your story, and

         25  particularly the point that you made that you've
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          2  been an advocate in trying to help others, and

          3  obviously someone very motivated and able. And, so,

          4  if folks who are doing all the right things to try

          5  and move forward are finding a brick wall in front

          6  of them, add to what is happening for kids who are

          7  not so skilled, are not so aware, that's the most

          8  troubling thing to me. You know, if the cream of the

          9  crop are having a tough time, imagine what everyone

         10  else is experiencing.

         11                 MS. ROBERTS: Yes, sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 And now I think the last testimony

         15  for this panel is from Giselle. And again, please

         16  summarize. We heard your eloquent words at the press

         17  conference, and please summarize, because we're

         18  really running out of time for these last few panels

         19  after this.

         20                 MS. JOHN: Well, I think I'll be the

         21  quickest because one of the things that -- again, my

         22  name is Giselle John, and I am the Program Director

         23  for Voices of Youth. What Voices of Youth does is

         24  work with young people all across the child welfare

         25  system to give them an opportunity to use their
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          2  voices and their stories to bring change in child

          3  welfare.

          4                 I am also a graduate of New York

          5  City's foster care system, and I think what I'm here

          6  really just to emphasize is how important

          7  information sharing is. Because years ago when I

          8  aged out of foster care, I was my agency's good kid.

          9  I had an apartment at 20, which I acquired on my

         10  own, so the housing unit in my agency decided not to

         11  fill out any forms for me. No Medicaid, no nothing.

         12  I don't benefit from any of the programs because as

         13  soon as I stepped in and said, oh, I found an

         14  apartment, somebody was willing to put me up, it

         15  just seemed like they just dropped the ball. And

         16  that happened years ago, and I'm sitting back and

         17  watching young people come across my office, come

         18  across my desk. Young men who are told, waking up

         19  one morning from their group and said, look, you

         20  can't stay here anymore, after they've been in the

         21  system for all these years. Young people like

         22  Lynette, like Mary, who are advocates, who are

         23  pushing the envelope and still getting kicked out of

         24  the system in a way that's so brutal and cruel in

         25  this expensive City, then I wonder if all these
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          2  years of me advocating and speaking out and working

          3  with young people, I wonder how effective we've

          4  been. More than that, I'm concerned about plans and

          5  plans and plans that get put out there. While I

          6  admire ACS's drive to create an opportunity to

          7  improve the quality of life for young people, I am a

          8  little concerned that that information is for people

          9  who are savvy in reading those documents, and for

         10  people who are savvy in knowing who to call and

         11  knowing which buttons to push and which envelopes to

         12  push.

         13                 I am concerned that there are young

         14  people out there who will not go on the ACS website

         15  and download the plan and read it and understand it.

         16  I'm concerned that staff, information is trickling

         17  down to staff, and staff are not delivering it to

         18  the people in a way that makes sense to them, in a

         19  way that's real to their world, in a way that they

         20  can see that they're participating.

         21                 I stand here, or I actually sit here

         22  today to say it doesn't matter how many plans we

         23  come up with, how many time lines we give them. It

         24  really doesn't matter if the young people, who need

         25  to be accessing these services, do not have a direct
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          2  link.

          3                 I think one last point I want to add

          4  is that right now, and somebody can correct me if

          5  I'm wrong, but I think there is a serious lack of

          6  opportunity for young people who are receiving

          7  services to give feedback to the agency itself, I

          8  believe that there should be a survey or some yearly

          9  or quarterly opportunity for young people to

         10  anonymously say, these goals I feel are being met

         11  for me, and if that's not provided, how could you

         12  get the numbers that you're asking for? Because if

         13  we wait for the agency to come up with that number,

         14  then it's not a true source. The only true source of

         15  information comes from the young people who are

         16  across New York City, and if there is no opportunity

         17  and no vehicle for them to consistently provide that

         18  feedback, then I feel like we are going to be

         19  stalling for the next year.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. We

         22  appreciate your passion. And you're absolutely

         23  right, like every other place in the world, the way

         24  to find out what's happening is to talk to the

         25  people who are on the front line, and I think that's
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          2  an excellent suggestion.

          3                 Thank you very much to this panel.

          4  Extremely helpful, and we appreciate your testimony.

          5                 We've got three panels left. I want

          6  to caution everyone, on average it means about two

          7  or three minutes per person, so let's do good

          8  summarizing. Sorry we have got this tight time

          9  frame.

         10                 Next panel is Heather O'Hayre at

         11  Legal Aid, and Karen Freedman from Lawyers for

         12  Children, and Pretti Kataria (phonetic) of Lawyers

         13  for Children.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Who would

         15  ever like to begin, go right ahead.

         16                 MS. O'HAYRE: Hi. Good afternoon. I'm

         17  Heather O'Hayre.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Very

         19  close, and make sure it's on.

         20                 MS. O'HAYRE: I'm a social worker with

         21  The Legal Aid Society's Adolescent Practice Team,

         22  which is a team designed to not only help our own

         23  staff in changing our practice as the foster care

         24  youth age, and the population changes, but also to

         25  directly assist our clients with the services that
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          2  they're not getting.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Could you

          4  just introduce yourself? Your name. I'm sorry.

          5                 MS. O'HAYRE: Yes. Heather O'Hayre.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Pull

          7  it very close, Heather. Thanks.

          8                 MS. O'HAYRE: So, just to summarize

          9  with the time constraint, even know the law is very

         10  clear, youth continue to be discharged to

         11  homelessness, and because of the permanent housing

         12  options for these youth are so limited and so poorly

         13  utilized, the homeless services continue to see

         14  foster children applying for shelters.

         15                 ACS operates a Housing Subsidy

         16  Program that is available to 18-year-olds who have

         17  sufficient income with the subsidy to afford their

         18  own apartment. Under the program they would be given

         19  up to $300 a month, until a total of $10,800 is

         20  reached, and part of that amount that shortens the

         21  duration of the monthly subsidy is the small

         22  furniture grant, security deposit, and first month's

         23  rent.

         24                 Given the extremely low vacancy rate

         25  in New York City the subsidy is quite insufficient
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          2  to meet the housing needs, and nearly impossible for

          3  our clients to take advantage of the opportunity.

          4                 The $300 amount was set by State law

          5  in the 1980s and has not increased, and the City

          6  could find its own monthly subsidy, as it's done for

          7  other selected populations, to make this a realistic

          8  option for the youth that are leaving care.

          9                 Another point that I think is really

         10  important that hasn't been touched on yet is that

         11  for the few youth that do receive this subsidy,

         12  there seems to be an issue with ACS's fiscal unit in

         13  that it takes between eight and 12 weeks for our

         14  clients to get the check for their first month's

         15  rent and security deposit. Then once they get that

         16  check, they get the lease and it takes another eight

         17  to 12 weeks for them to get the furniture grant.

         18                 I don't know of a landlord that's

         19  able to wait eight to 12 weeks to give this youth

         20  the apartment while they wait for the money to come

         21  and then for the few young people leaving that do

         22  get the apartment, where are they sleeping, what are

         23  they eating, and for a lot of them their apartments

         24  are empty, completely empty because the 750

         25  discharge grant that they do get when they leave
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          2  care has already gone towards other expenses.

          3                 The local priority that was set up

          4  between NYCHA and ACS has also been very difficult

          5  for our clients to benefit from. Clients continue to

          6  not only be discharged and go into shelters, but

          7  they are discharged to college dorms. For young

          8  people leaving care that do have a significant

          9  connection to an adult, if that adult says that the

         10  young person is able to stay with them until they do

         11  get an apartment, then they're no longer eligible

         12  for the priority because they're not classified as

         13  being homeless.

         14                 Once youth complete the application

         15  and actually do figure out what's needed and get it

         16  done, for the few that get Section 8 vouchers, after

         17  they actually receive the voucher, they get little

         18  to no assistance finding apartments that take the

         19  voucher, and applications are frequently lost. If

         20  they're incomplete, there seems to be lack of

         21  communication between ACS's housing unit and the

         22  agencies to get them complete, and rather they're

         23  just rejected completely and the young person has to

         24  start over.

         25                 In terms of the transitional Medicaid
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          2  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

          4  encourage everyone, short and sweet. Go ahead.

          5                 MS. O'HAYRE: In terms of the

          6  transitional Medicaid, New York State doesn't have

          7  Medicaid coverage for 18 to 21 year olds that have

          8  left care. The transitional Medicaid isn't working,

          9  and often times the youth aren't told that they're

         10  Medicaid is ending. We've had clients that then have

         11  medical bills after leaving care that they can't

         12  cover, and when they do go to apply for Medicaid on

         13  their own, the system still reflects that they're in

         14  care for months after they've left care. And this is

         15  also relevant for those that aren't able to secure

         16  employment, but then they go apply for public

         17  assistance. The system will say months after they've

         18  left care that they're still being supported. And so

         19  they're not able to apply for public assistance

         20  either.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         22  That was very helpful. Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. Who

         24  would like to go next?

         25                 MS. FREEDMAN: Good afternoon, almost.
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          2  I'm Karen Freedman. I'm the Executive Director at

          3  Lawyers for Children and I do want to thank you,

          4  Chairman DeBlasio, for bringing this issue to the

          5  floor.

          6                 I can give you a look around this

          7  room today. It's actually a crying shame that this

          8  room is not filled to the rafters, because the

          9  children that we are talking about today are our

         10  community's children. We have raised these young

         11  people in foster care and the idea that we're going

         12  to then abandon them six months after they turn age

         13  21 is shameful, and I think that's something that

         14  this Committee can do and force ACS to change.

         15                 I'm going to focus right now very

         16  briefly on two things: One, giving you some of the

         17  statistics that ACS did not give you. And second, on

         18  the piece of this puzzle that needs more focus,

         19  which is what we do as a community to create the

         20  real connections that will support these young

         21  people when they do age out of care.

         22                 So, first of all, you are were

         23  absolutely right to focus on data, and ACS will not

         24  compile this data without you forcing them to do it.

         25                 Why won't they do it? Because the
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          2  results will show they are not in compliance with

          3  the law. And the sense of urgency has to come from

          4  this Committee and I thank you for bringing that

          5  forward this morning.

          6                 I will tell you that in the survey

          7  that we've most recently done of the 451 young

          8  people between the ages of 18 and 21, let's -- I'll

          9  go through really quickly. In education, only 52 of

         10  these 451 young people graduated from high school.

         11  Only 23 of them even had a GED. One-hundred

         12  ninety-six of them, a full 196 were completely

         13  disassociated from the education system.

         14                 Let's talk about jobs. Four-hundred

         15  and fifty-one young people between the ages of 18

         16  and 21, only 80 of them were employed. Eighty out of

         17  451.

         18                 Housing. Only 68 had applied, had

         19  even applied for the ACS housing subsidy, and only

         20  nine had received it. Every single one of these 451

         21  young people is entitled to the ACS housing subsidy,

         22  there is no reason why every single one of them

         23  shouldn't have applied for it.

         24                 NYCHA. Ninety-two of them had

         25  applied. Only six had received it. Eighty-five had
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          2  applied for Section 8 and only five had received it.

          3  And then we had, on our own roster, 136 of these 451

          4  children who were scheduled to be discharged to

          5  shelters, and we avoided that through diligent

          6  advocacy, and that advocacy, I want to say, was

          7  provided partly through a grant from the Robinhood

          8  Foundation, which allowed us to create the

          9  adolescents confronting transition project, where we

         10  have our two Social Work Directors who are here,

         11  Renee Rivera, and Dee Homathiate (phonetic), and

         12  also our Legal Director, Pretti Kataria. And with

         13  all of their efforts, this is such a confusing

         14  system and will not change without the pressure that

         15  you all are putting on ACS, and I thank you for

         16  doing that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. And

         18  those are some shocking statistics we will

         19  definitely use in our follow-up, because it kind of

         20  puts the lie to what kind of support these young

         21  people are getting, and particularly those NYCHA and

         22  those housing statistics are quite damning.

         23                 Karen and Heather, I think Gale

         24  Brewer had a follow-up question for you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly.
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          2  Are you part of any of these discussions with ACS in

          3  terms of these issues?

          4                 In other words, the committees,

          5  advisory committees, et cetera, et cetera?

          6                 MS. KATARIA: I can address that. I'll

          7  just introduce myself again. I'm Pretti Kataria, I'm

          8  the attorney on the Adolescents Confronting

          9  Transition Project.

         10                 I was entertained to hear Ms. Ruiz

         11  talk about these regular meetings that we've had.

         12  We've had considerable trouble scheduling with them.

         13  We've been trying to have these regular meetings. We

         14  are a part of it, but unfortunately, it's not as

         15  effective immediately as we'd like it to be.

         16                 We have suggestions that we're

         17  willing to offer. We've been discussing things like

         18  developing a clearer housing applications process,

         19  to follow up on what Ms. O'Hayre had said, but at

         20  this point we're at the table, but going beyond the

         21  table into practice, it's not as efficient as it

         22  could be.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I appreciate

         24  that. Because Ms. O'Hayre has some very practical,

         25  very specific, very doable suggestions, and if you
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          2  had a discussion on a regular basis, it seems to me

          3  some of them could be implemented.

          4                 So, I was wondering, Mr. Chairman, if

          5  we could, you know, make sure those meetings take

          6  place, and maybe this Committee could be part of

          7  them and we could make sure they happen on a regular

          8  basis, and maybe some of these issues could be

          9  worked out.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes. I think

         11  that's a very helpful suggestion, Council Member

         12  Brewer.

         13                 I don't think it's easy after today's

         14  testimony from ACS to have a lot of faith in the

         15  next steps. Again, not 'cause they're bad people,

         16  but because they should have come in with real

         17  specific answers and didn't.

         18                 So, I think we should in fact very

         19  specifically follow-up with ACS to make clear that

         20  advocates who have this information from direct

         21  experience are being included in the discussions in

         22  how to make this work.

         23                 So, I think that's a very good point.

         24                 MS. O'HAYRE: Can I also make one more

         25  point --

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please.

          3                 MS. O'HAYRE: -- That interestingly

          4  ACS didn't cover, and those are the clients that

          5  unfortunately are disqualified from NYCHA or Section

          6  8 because of criminal histories and the lack of

          7  assistance that they're given at all in finding

          8  places to live? And you can be disqualified from

          9  NYCHA for anything, a misdemeanor, disorderly

         10  conduct, very small things that can be part of very

         11  normal adolescent development. And those clients are

         12  the ones that really, really are struggling as well.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I

         14  appreciate that. And we don't want a catch-22 where

         15  we're trying to help kids who have had difficult

         16  pasts, and then we disqualify them from housing

         17  opportunities for the same exact reason.

         18                 MS. O'HAYRE: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, it sounds

         20  like there needs to be some policy changes to

         21  accommodate that reality.

         22                 MS. FREEDMAN: And I just wanted to

         23  address one other issue that Councilwoman Brewer had

         24  raised before regarding technology. It's very

         25  interesting that technology is not used by ACS when

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  it could be. And for example, there is something

          3  very simple and it's in fact no cost to the City

          4  called "community voicemail," which is being used in

          5  communities throughout the country. There was a time

          6  when this was used by the Housing Authority for the

          7  homeless. It was never offered to young people aging

          8  out of foster care, and it would be a critical

          9  network and critical communication tool for these

         10  young people, and that's just another very simple

         11  example of something that we could do immediately

         12  and with no cost whatsoever.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         14  much. We appreciate this panel's testimony. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 We're going to call, we have two

         17  panels left, we're going to just call everyone

         18  together. There's five people, I'm sure you can all

         19  get up there together. We have Lynne Echenberg,

         20  Myrna Forney, Brenda Tully, Edith Holzer and Paul

         21  Pitcoff. Lynne, Myrna, Brenda, Edith and Paul.

         22                 So, you just have to push the button

         23  until you see the green light come on, the two green

         24  lights there at the bottom and make sure the

         25  microphone is close to you when you are speaking.
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          2  Who would like to go first?

          3                 MS. ECHENBERG: I would like to go

          4  first.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Excellent.

          6                 MS. ECHENBERG: Hello, Chairman

          7  DeBlasio. My name is Lynne Echenberg, and I work at

          8  the Children's Aid Society.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You can move

         10  that. Pull it all the way towards you so you're

         11  comfortable.

         12                 MS. ECHENBERG: Okay, like I'll eat

         13  it.

         14                 Okay, I just wanted to thank you so

         15  much for holding this hearing. It is so imperative

         16  that we address these issues, because what's going

         17  on in the City is a travesty. And I know we're

         18  strapped for time, so I'm really just going to

         19  respond to what we heard from ACS. I've been working

         20  in the system for now a decade. Before the

         21  Children's Aid Society, I was a lawyer in the Bronx

         22  Family Court for the Legal Aid Society's Juvenile

         23  Rights Division, and my only work was to represent

         24  young people aging out of foster care. And before

         25  that, I worked for the Administration for Children's
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          2  Services for Commissioner Scoppetta. So, I have

          3  access to information, and I'm probably one of the

          4  more knowledgeable people in the City around these

          5  issues, and I have to tell you that most of what I

          6  heard today from ACS I have never heard before.

          7                 But with regard to the NYCHA priority

          8  code, let me tell you that when I sent you that

          9  question to ask ACS about the cut off being 19.5

         10  years of age for young people who were applying for

         11  NYCHA housing, I got that information off the desk

         12  guide the Deputy Commissioner referred to. So, in

         13  fact, young people have to get their application in

         14  by age 19 and six months, or at the very latest, by

         15  20 years and six months, or they can't get any

         16  housing through NYCHA.

         17                 Second of all, as far as the

         18  relationship between DYCD and ACS that Councilman

         19  Fidler asked about, part of the problem is that

         20  youth aging out of foster care are not considered

         21  homeless under federal and State law, so a young

         22  person cannot seemlessly leave placement in foster

         23  care and go into any DYCD shelter, because they have

         24  to be homeless, and under the law a young person

         25  aging out of foster care is not considered homeless.
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          2  So, they have to spend some time on the streets

          3  before they're even eligible for any shelter through

          4  DYCD.

          5                 As far as Medicaid is concerned, it's

          6  another travesty, when I was at Legal Aid Society I

          7  was the one working with the team of lawyers dealing

          8  with HRA and ACS around the due process violations

          9  that are occurring when young people age out of

         10  foster care and lose their Medicaid coverage without

         11  any notice or an opportunity to be heard. At that

         12  time it was two and a half years ago, we were

         13  promised by ACS and HRA that they would deal with

         14  the problem, which is quite simply that two

         15  management information systems are not speaking to

         16  each other, that is the foster care Medicaid

         17  database and the community Medicaid database, so

         18  there is no trigger when a young person is aging out

         19  of foster care to tell the community Medicaid system

         20  that this young person is about to leave and needs

         21  to be recertified. And, then, so we devised this

         22  manual, four-month window where young people should

         23  continue to receive Medicaid, and during that time

         24  they're supposed to be getting recertified, and the

         25  promise was that the management information systems
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          2  would be integrated within a year and a half, and

          3  we're three years into it now and nothing has

          4  happened.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I will give you

          6  your time caution now. It's very helpful. I'm just

          7  going to have to ask everyone to summarize to the

          8  maximum extent.

          9                 MS. ECHENBERG: Okay. As far as ACS

         10  and Covenant House is concerned, I just want to put

         11  this out there, that Covenant House is taking a lot

         12  of young people who are aging out of foster care to

         13  homelessness, and unfortunately, they can only stay

         14  with Covenant House for 30 days, at which time

         15  they're homeless again. Then as far as what happens

         16  to young people when they turn 21, if they leave the

         17  foster care system at age 21, and leave the system

         18  to homelessness, they have no legal recourse

         19  whatsoever because the Family Court loses

         20  jurisdiction over them because they are no longer

         21  technically a child, so if they age out at 21 to

         22  homelessness, nothing happens, and there is no court

         23  remedy, you know, no contempt hearing that you can

         24  have because you can't go back to Family Court. So,

         25  if a kid leaves foster care prematurely before 21
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          2  and ends up homeless, then they may, may get some

          3  help. But if they leave at 21 and become homeless,

          4  nothing happens.

          5                 And finally, as far as this website

          6  that the ACS team was referring to, this website

          7  with all this information that's supposed to be

          8  rolled out, that website is based on a newsletter

          9  that I have been writing for years, called "What's

         10  Poppin," and it's basically my newsletter on a

         11  website. Keith Heffner of Youth Communications gave

         12  me the information and ACS the information that was

         13  on the website for our own, for editing and

         14  clearance and approval, and despite the fact that I

         15  run a center and that I am a lawyer for kids, I

         16  managed to get the draft back to Youth

         17  Communications, they're still waiting for ACS to

         18  look over the draft material --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I'm

         20  sorry, I really appreciate your testimony, we just

         21  really are about to be kicked out of this room. So,

         22  thank you. I hear you loud an clear. And everyone

         23  think like one minute, two minutes each, because

         24  that's all we've got left.

         25                 MR. THOMPSON: Good afternoon,
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          2  everyone. My name is Charles Thompson. I was a child

          3  in care for about 13 years, and I matched a foster

          4  home for each year. But besides that, as far as my

          5  housing situation, I aged out of care January 2006,

          6  turned 21, and I could see that they were very eager

          7  to get me to sign out, due to the fact that it was

          8  four days before my birthday. And my belief in the

          9  housing system, NYCHA Section 8, I can't use the

         10  word belief because I have no belief. I go to the

         11  gym six days a week, three hours a day. I'm no

         12  superman, but I believe I could go to school

         13  full-time, work full-time, and look for housing on

         14  Craig's list, take anything that I can possibly get

         15  my hands on, regardless if the rent is outrageous.

         16  But any type of belief in NYCHA, I do not have that.

         17  And now that I'm working with Graham Windham. I just

         18  started this Monday, I'm a case aide, so I plan to

         19  work and make them aware of the problems and

         20  potential problems that kids in my situation face

         21  and bring it to their knowledge. And the information

         22  that they lack of from knowing that, you know, you

         23  could to a Great Adventure trip once a year, which I

         24  went my last year in care, 2005 when I was 20, I

         25  found out we get to go on a trip every summer, and
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          2  see that there are some type of resources out there

          3  in the case with the youth, because as a kid you

          4  have a lot of energy, and if that energy is not used

          5  in recreational resources it will lead into

          6  negative. That's all I have to say. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. And

          8  thank you for the good work you're doing. We really

          9  appreciate it.

         10                 Who would like to go next?

         11                 MS. TULLY: Hello. My name is Brenda

         12  Tully. I'm the Program Director at Good Shepherd

         13  Services, Chelsea Foyer, which provides transitional

         14  housing for 18- to 24-year-old young adults who are

         15  homeless, at risk of homelessness, and aging out of

         16  foster care.

         17                 I have a couple of statistics on

         18  outcomes I would like to share with you from the

         19  Chelsea Foyer. We have 63 young people who have

         20  moved out of our program, and it's only been open

         21  for the past three years and four months. Of those

         22  63 young people, we have been in contact with 41 --

         23  48 of them at least one year post discharge, and out

         24  of those young people -- or actually we've been in

         25  contact with 30 of the 48 young people who have been
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          2  out of our program for more than a year. Of those

          3  young people, 28 out of the 30 are employed and are

          4  earning enough income to meet their needs, and 28 of

          5  those 30 reside in stable housing, meaning that they

          6  don't have threat of being kicked out because

          7  they're at someone else's beck and call.

          8                 This program is a program that is

          9  designed to meet the needs of young adults in

         10  transition to adulthood, and the funding that we get

         11  currently from ACS is for eight SILP beds, the

         12  Supervised Independent Living Program, and yet, 40

         13  percent of the young people who have been in our

         14  program the past three and a half years have had a

         15  history of foster care.

         16                 So, we are essentially attempting to

         17  bridge the gap with our 40-bed tiny little program

         18  to meet the needs of young people who are aging out

         19  of foster care, and I think we're doing a very good

         20  job of it. The problem is that there is no funding

         21  for young people once they turn 21, and we're kind

         22  of cleaning up some of the mess of the foster care

         23  system and giving young people an opportunity to

         24  extend the time that they have to learn the skills

         25  and to practice the skills that they need and yet,
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          2  there is no dedicated funding for this age group.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          5                 MR. PITCOFF: My name is Paul Pitcoff.

          6  I'm from the Youth Advocacy Center. I'm going to try

          7  to talk for 30 seconds. I think in this great City

          8  we are wasting an incredible amount of money and the

          9  saddest thing about this whole story here is we're

         10  wasting incredible resources. The young people that

         11  are in foster care, we shouldn't be, as one of the

         12  young women said, we shouldn't be just talking about

         13  housing. These people have a great deal to

         14  contribute to this City, this great City. And I one

         15  of the, we get mired in a lot of these issues and

         16  they're all extremely important, but I think one of

         17  the overriding issues in ACS, and I've been in this

         18  field now for over 15 years, is we just have the

         19  lowest, lowest expectations for these young people

         20  that are in foster care, and nothing is going to

         21  change until we, and I urge the City Council, to

         22  provide forceful leadership to have the highest

         23  expectations for these young people. We should have

         24  been spending the last two hours today talking about

         25  the kind of education we should be offering these
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          2  young people. These people have so much to

          3  contribute to the City.

          4                 I was the Chairman and Professor of

          5  Communications for 20 years, I was in education, and

          6  I came into this field thinking that maybe there was

          7  something wrong with these young people, that they

          8  couldn't be educated, because everybody had the

          9  lowest, lowest expectations. And I've been running a

         10  program now for 15 years, an education program, and

         11  these young people have the same intellectual

         12  capacity as any young person, and we should be

         13  paying attention to that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I thank

         15  you. And I certainly think some of the young people

         16  we've heard from today are fine examples of your

         17  point. So I really do appreciate your point.

         18                 Who would like to go next?

         19                 MS. FORNEY: Hi. My name is Myrna

         20  Forney and I'm Director at The Door. I, too, want to

         21  thank you for refocusing the attention on this

         22  issue. I will be very brief, but the things that I

         23  think are important, one is, I think this Committee

         24  can put a lot of pressure on making sure that there

         25  is a coordination of services between the agencies.
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          2                 ACS has the data and knows how many

          3  young people are coming up through the system and

          4  when they are slated to age out. It should not be a

          5  surprise then to any of the housing agencies that

          6  these people are coming, and there should also be an

          7  examination of the policies around eligibility,

          8  because a young person cannot be expected to have

          9  employment, when they're not getting the training

         10  that they need, they cannot be expected to have a

         11  job, and as of right now they're often required to

         12  get employment before they can get Section 8. They

         13  have to step out of service before they can be

         14  eligible to obtain service and support, and those

         15  regulations need to be examined to be more in sync

         16  with the young people that are coming up. We take

         17  responsibility for raising them, we should make sure

         18  that the services that they are eligible for

         19  recognize the circumstances from which they come.

         20                 I would also like to say that another

         21  area that the Committee could work on is making sure

         22  that agencies around the City create opportunities

         23  for internships that track towards full-time

         24  employment. Often times these young people are

         25  getting experiences that do not in and of themselves

                                                            134

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  support them getting enough experience to earn a

          3  living wage, and if they are in internships that do

          4  not track towards employment, often times they get

          5  discouraged and do not want to do the job. So we

          6  need to be able to tell them that the work they're

          7  doing will lead to a permanent employment that's

          8  consistent and it will be really a great benefit if

          9  the young people knew that there were agencies and

         10  for our -- agencies like The Door and other

         11  community-based agencies to be able to contact

         12  City-wide agencies and say how many internships do

         13  you have and how many of those internships would

         14  track to employment would be fabulous.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I really

         16  appreciate that point. And I'm just going to, before

         17  we hear from Edith, so we saved a wonderful speaker

         18  for last, I wanted to just make one point related,

         19  which is I have here testimony which will go into

         20  the record from the Jewish Child Care Association,

         21  and with it they have a list that they use for their

         22  agency of 17 essential things all kids have to have

         23  before discharge, starting with stable place to live

         24  and income and Social Security Card, really basic

         25  things which would be just common sense to you on
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          2  any of this panel, which clearly was not common

          3  sense to ACS when they testified. So, I wanted to

          4  say that the common sense you were just showing

          5  there about connecting kids to an internship, that

          6  might be a way forward, is clearly not the policy of

          7  the City right now.

          8                 I also mentioned just for the record,

          9  we have testimony from Jim Purcell, that will go

         10  into the record and from Inwood House will also go

         11  into the record.

         12                 Now, for our very last testimony,

         13  good friend of this Committee, Edith Holzer.

         14                 MS. HOLZER: Thank you. And I'll try

         15  to be brief. I'm here representing the Council of

         16  Family and Child Caring Agencies, which is the

         17  primary representative for nearly all the

         18  non-for-profit, foster care and family preservation

         19  programs in New York State.

         20                 We've heard a lot of testimony today

         21  about a lot of problems that young people confront,

         22  and so I'm not going to go through that again. I do

         23  want to point out, though, that we're talking about

         24  kids who have a lot of disruptions in their lives

         25  and who need a tremendous amount of support, and
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          2  there are agencies who work with these kids who are

          3  trying to provide the support through private fund

          4  raising, because the government money is not there.

          5  And you've heard from Good Shepherd that does that,

          6  from Children's Aid Society, I've included testimony

          7  from St. Vincent's, which runs in the after 21

          8  college program, and you've heard about some of the

          9  things Graham Windham does, the problem is that

         10  these kids need more time. And they can't just be

         11  allowed to age out of foster care, and the system

         12  says you're on your own. They need a tremendous

         13  amount of support and every foster care agency that

         14  works with kids, and there are kids who we're not

         15  talking about today who go to four-year colleges,

         16  some ivy-league colleges, they're doing very well,

         17  thank God, because of a combination of supports and

         18  obviously their own initiative and their own

         19  intelligence. And we should have high expectations

         20  for all of the kids who are in foster care, but we

         21  should also make sure that they have a place to go

         22  back to if they need it, if things fall apart, that

         23  they have access to housing, to health care, mental

         24  health care, and educational, continued educational

         25  and job employment.
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          2                 And the other recommendation I just

          3  wanted to make, which is something you talked to ACS

          4  about, is a longitudinal study on what's happening

          5  to kids who age out of foster care. Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          8  much to this panel and everyone who was here today.

          9                 I'm sorry, Gale Brewer, before --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quick

         11  question. Is there some way technology-wise to keep

         12  in communication with young people? What do you

         13  think?

         14                 MS. HOLZER: I think you raise a very

         15  good issue. I mean, Brandon --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well, you've

         17  got to speak into the mic. But go ahead.

         18                 MS. HOLZER: I'm sorry. Brandon, who

         19  was here before, had his palm out --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I have

         21  teens, so I know.

         22                 MS. HOLZER: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But I just

         24  didn't know if you thought there was any more

         25  systematic way.
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          2                 Myrna, go ahead. What do you think?

          3                 MS. FORNEY: Well, I do think that

          4  your point was accurate. I think that many of the

          5  young people have, if nothing else, the ability to

          6  get text messages, and at The Door what we have

          7  begun to do is collect that information on entry, so

          8  that if nothing else we could send out a text

          9  message blast that says this is what's going on,

         10  come back in. It's something, you have to make the

         11  effort to track and gather that information --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's all I'm

         13  saying.

         14                 MS. FORNEY: -- But I think it does

         15  exist.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then of

         17  course we could do something that's more systemic,

         18  but in the interim all of that information is there.

         19  Okay. Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         21  much. And this hearing of the General Welfare

         22  Committee is now adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 1:11 p.m.)

         24
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